Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the
contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability

whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.

Trip.com
1 EEEE A1

Trip.com Group Limited

il 12 4 W A PR & W

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 9961)

OVERSEAS REGULATORY ANNOUNCEMENT

We are making this announcement pursuant to Rule 13.10B of The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

We filed an annual report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 (the “Form
20-F”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission of the United States. The Form 20-F is
attached and is available for viewing on our website at http://investors.trip.com.

By Order of the Board
Trip.com Group Limited
James Jianzhang Liang
Executive Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, March 28, 2023

As of the date of this announcement, the board of directors of the Company comprises Mr. James Jianzhang Liang, Mr. Min Fan,
Ms. Jane Jie Sun, Mr. Robin Yanhong Li and Mr. Junjie He as directors, and Mr. Neil Nanpeng Shen, Mr. Qi Ji, Mr. Gabriel Li
and Mr. JP Gan as independent directors.



UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 20-F

g/[arl;l(l)iné)ISTRATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) OR 12(g) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
OR
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022

OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the transition period from to

OR

0 SHELL COMPANY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

Date of event requiring this shell company report

Commission file number: 001-33853

Trip.com Group Limited

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

N/A

(Translation of Registrant’s name into English)

Cayman Islands
(Jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

968 Jin Zhong Road
Shanghai 200335
People’s Republic of China

(Address of principal executive offices)

Jane Jie Sun, Chief Executive Officer
Telephone: +86 (21) 3406-4880
Facsimile: +86 (21) 5251-0000

968 Jin Zhong Road
Shanghai 200335



People’s Republic of China

(Name, Telephone, Email and/or Facsimile number and Address of Company Contact Person)

Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Trading Name of each exchange
Title of each class Symbol(s) on which registered
American depositary shares (each representing TCOM Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
one ordinary share, par value US$0.00125 per (Nasdaq Global Select Market)
share)
Ordinary shares, par value US$0.00125 per 9961 The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
share

Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

None
(Title of Class)

Securities for which there is a reporting obligation pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Act:

None
(Title of Class)

Indicate the number of outstanding shares of each of the issuer’s classes of capital or common stock as of the close of the period covered by the annual
report: 646,066,830 ordinary shares, par value US$0.00125 per share, as of December 31, 2022.

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes O No

If this report is an annual or transition report, indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. [0 Yes No

Note — Checking the box above will not relieve any registrant required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 from their obligations under those Sections.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing

requirements for the past 90 days. Yes [ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of
Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such

files). Yes 0O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or an emerging growth company.
See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer [ Non-accelerated filer O

Emerging growth company O

If an emerging growth company that prepares its financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected
not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards} provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of

the Exchange Act. [

T The term “new or revised financial accounting standard” refers to any update issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board to its
Accounting Standards Codification after April 5, 2012.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal
control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that

prepared or issued its audit report.



If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the
filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. []

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation
received by any of the registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). O

Indicate by check mark which basis of accounting the registrant has used to prepare the financial statements included in this filing:

U.S. GAAP International Financial Reporting Standards as issued Other O
by the International Accounting Standards Board O

If “Other” has been checked in response to the previous question, indicate by check mark which financial statement item the registrant has elected to
follow. O Item 17 [ Item 18

If this is an annual report, indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act). O Yes No

(APPLICABLE ONLY TO ISSUERS INVOLVED IN BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDINGS DURING THE PAST FIVE YEARS.)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Sections 12, 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 subsequent to the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court. O Yes [ No




TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT

PART L.
ITEM 1.
ITEM 2.
ITEM 3.
ITEM 4.
ITEM 4A.
ITEM 5.
ITEM 6.
ITEM 7.
ITEM 8.
ITEM 9.
ITEM 10.
ITEM 11.
ITEM 12.

PART II.
ITEM 13.
ITEM 14.
ITEM 15.

ITEM 16A.
ITEM 16B.
ITEM 16C.
ITEM 16D.
ITEM 16E.

ITEM 16F.

ITEM 16G.
ITEM 16H.

ITEM 16l.
PART I1I.
ITEM 17.
ITEM 18.
ITEM 19.
SIGNATURES

IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS
OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE

KEY INFORMATION

INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

THE OFFER AND LISTING

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES

DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES
MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

CODE OF ETHICS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES
PURCHASE OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS
CHANGE IN REGISTRANT’S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EXHIBITS

Page

[V, BN, BV, VS I

96

96
114
125
130
130
131
139
139
144
144
144
144
145
145
145
146
146
146
146
146
146
148
148
148
148
152



INTRODUCTION

In this annual report, unless otherwise indicated or unless the context otherwise requires:

“ADSs” refers to American depositary shares, each of which represents one ordinary share;

“CCASS?” refers to the Central Clearing and Settlement System established and operated by Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited;

“China” or “PRC” refers to the People’s Republic of China and, solely for the purpose of this annual report, excludes Taiwan, Hong Kong
S.A.R., and Macao S.A.R.;

“CSRC” refers to the China Securities Regulatory Commission;

“GMV” refers to gross merchandise volume, the total value of merchandise sold through our platform during a given period;
“HKS$” or “Hong Kong dollars” refers to Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong;

“Hong Kong” or “Hong Kong S.A.R.” refers to the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China;

“Hong Kong Listing Rules” refers to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, as
amended or supplemented from time to time;

“Hong Kong Share Registrar” refers to Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited;
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange” refers to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
“Macao” or “Macao S.A.R.” refers to the Macao Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China;

“Main Board” refers to the stock market (excluding the option market) operated by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange which is independent
from and operated in parallel with the Growth Enterprise Market of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange;

“Qunar” refers to Qunar Cayman Islands Limited, a Cayman Islands exempted company, and unless the context requires otherwise,
includes its predecessor entities and consolidated subsidiaries and the variable interest entity of which Trip.com Group Limited is the
primary beneficiary through Qunar Cayman Islands Limited,;

“Renminbi” or “RMB?” refers to the legal currency of China; “U.S. dollars” or “US$” refers to the legal currency of the United States; and
“€” refers to the legal currency of Eurozone;

“SFC” refers to the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong;

“SFO” refers to the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended or supplemented from time to
time;

“shares” or “ordinary shares” refers to our ordinary shares, par value of US$0.00125 per share;
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. “variable interest entities” or “VIEs” refers to variable interest entities, which are companies incorporated in China that have entered into a
series of contractual arrangements with their respective shareholders and our PRC subsidiaries. Under these contractual arrangements,
Trip.com Group Limited has a “controlling financing interest” in the VIEs as defined in FASB ASC 810 so that it is considered the primary
beneficiary of the VIEs for accounting purposes only and thus consolidates each of these entities under U.S. GAAP. The significant VIEs
that Trip.com Group Limited consolidates under U.S. GAAP include (i) Shanghai Ctrip Commerce Co., Ltd., or Ctrip Commerce (VIE),
which holds a value-added telecommunications business license and mainly provides online advertising services, (ii) Shanghai Huacheng
Southwest International Travel Agency Co., Ltd., or Shanghai Huacheng (VIE), which holds a travel agency operation license and mainly
provides domestic, inbound, and outbound tour services, and air-ticketing services, (iii) Chengdu Ctrip Travel Agency Co., Ltd., or
Chengdu Ctrip (VIE), which holds a domestic travel agency operation license and mainly provides air-ticketing services, and (iv) Beijing
Qu Na Information Technology Co., Ltd., or Qunar Beijing (VIE), which holds the licenses, approvals, and key assets such as mobile
application and website that are essential to the business operations of Qunar; and

13 99 ¢

. we,” “our company,” or “Trip.com Group” refers to Trip.com Group Limited (formerly known as Ctrip.com International, Ltd.), its
predecessor entities and subsidiaries, and, in the context of describing our operations and consolidated financial information, the VIEs,
unless otherwise indicated herein. We started to consolidate the financial results of Qunar on December 31, 2015. In calculating the
number of hotels with which we have room supply relationships, downloads of and transactions through our mobile channel, and other
operational data, where applicable, as well as in describing our marketing, branding, and intellectual properties, we have not taken into
account the comparable operating data or other information of Qunar. For the avoidance of confusion, “our holding company” or
“Trip.com Group Limited” only refers to Trip.com Group Limited, a Cayman Islands exempted company, and unless the context requires
otherwise, include its predecessor entities; “our subsidiaries” refers to the entities in which Trip.com Group Limited holds direct or indirect
equity ownership, and thus consolidates their financial results; for “variable interest entities” or “VIEs,” see stand-alone definition sets
forth above. Trip.com Group Limited does not conduct operations of its own and does not have any equity ownership in the VIEs.

Any discrepancies in any table between the amounts identified as total amounts and the sum of the amounts listed therein are due to rounding.
This annual report on Form 20-F includes our audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022.

On March 18, 2021, we effected a change to our authorized share capital by one (1)-to-eight (8) subdivision of shares, or the Share Subdivision.
Concurrently, we effected a proportionate change in ADS to ordinary share ratio from eight (8) ADSs representing one (1) ordinary share to one (1) ADS
representing one (1) ordinary share. Such changes have been reflected retrospectively throughout this document.

Our reporting currency is Renminbi. This annual report contains translations from Renminbi to U.S. dollars solely for the convenience of the
reader. Unless otherwise stated, all translations from Renminbi to U.S. dollars were made at a rate of RMB6.8972 to US$1.00, which was the exchange
rate in effect as of December 30, 2022 as set forth in the H.10 statistical release of The Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. The
exchange rate in effect as of March 17, 2023 was RMB6.8870 to US$1.00. We make no representation that any Renminbi amounts referred to in this
annual report could have been, or could be, converted to U.S. dollars at any particular rate, or at all.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT

This annual report on Form 20-F contains forward-looking statements that reflect our current expectations and views of future events. These
statements are made under the “safe harbor” provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You can identify these forward-
looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expect, ” !

29 ¢, 99 99

anticipate,” “future,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “estimate,” “is/are likely to” or
other similar expressions. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and
financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and financial needs. These forward-looking

statements include, among other things:

. our anticipated growth strategies;
. our future business development, results of operations and financial condition;
. our ability to continue to control costs and maintain profitability; and

. the expected growth in the overall economy and demand for travel services in China.

The forward-looking statements included in this annual report on Form 20-F are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about our
company. Our actual results of operations may differ materially from the forward-looking statements as a result of the risk factors described under “Item
3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors,” included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 20-F, including the following risks:

. slow-down of economic growth in China and the global economic downturn may have a material and adverse effect on our business, and
may materially and adversely affect our growth and profitability;

. public health crisis, such as COVID-19 outbreak, may have a material and adverse effect on our business and results of operations;

. general declines or disruptions in the travel industry may materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations;

. the trading price of our listed securities has been volatile historically and may continue to be volatile regardless of our operating
performance;

. if we are unable to maintain existing relationships with travel suppliers and strategic alliances, or establish new arrangements with travel

suppliers and strategic alliances similar to those we currently have, our business may suffer;

. if we fail to further increase our brand recognition, we may face difficulty in retaining existing and acquiring new business partners and
customers, and our business may be harmed,

. if we do not compete successfully against new and existing competitors, we may lose our market share, and our business and results of
operations may be materially and adversely affected;

. our business could suffer if we do not successfully manage current growth and potential future growth;

. our strategy to invest in complementary businesses and assets involves significant risks and uncertainty that may prevent us from achieving
our objectives and harm our financial condition and results of operations;

. our quarterly results are likely to fluctuate because of seasonality in the travel industry in Greater China;
. our business may be harmed if our infrastructure and technology are damaged or otherwise fail or become obsolete;
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. our business depends substantially on the continuing efforts of our key executives, and our business may be severely disrupted if we lose
their services;

. inflation in China may disrupt our business and have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations; and

. if the VIE structure and the contractual arrangements among us, the VIEs and their shareholders are found to be in violation of any PRC
laws or regulations, we and/or the VIEs may be subject to fines and other penalties, which may adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

These risks are not exhaustive. Other sections of this annual report include additional factors that could adversely impact our business and
financial performance. You should read these statements in conjunction with the risk factors disclosed in “Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors”
of this annual report and other risks outlined in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. Moreover, we operate in an
emerging and evolving environment. New risk factors may emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for our management to predict all risk
factors, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results
to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART L.

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE

Not applicable.

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION

Our Holding Company Structure and Contractual Arrangements with the VIEs

The following diagram illustrates our corporate structure, including our significant subsidiaries and the VIEs as of December 31, 2022.

o 100 w 100G o 100
Chenpdu Ctrip Shanghai Huscheng Shanghai Hecheng
Intermational Travel Southwest International International Travel
Ageacy Co., Lid. Travel Agenecy Co., Lid. Ageocy Co, Lid

E Ripresents the entities in the Company’s oflkhiee anctne

Represents the Company's wholly owned PRC domestic subasdianes

5o ¥ : e —» [Equity interest
Represents the Company’s significant vanable interest entities. ik

Represents the wholly owned subsidiary of one of the Company’s signilicant vansble interest entitics, === Contechl araagimcats

Notes:

()

@

©)
“4)
®)
(6)
0

The 57% owners of Qunar Cayman Islands Limited are several non-U.S. investment entities, namely M Strat Holdings, L.P., Momentum Strategic
Holdings, L.P., Ocean Management Limited, and Earthly Paradise Investment Fund L.P., which are consolidated by us under U.S. GAAP. For
further details about the indirect ownership of Qunar Cayman Islands Limited, see “Item 4. Information on the Company — A. History and
Development of the Company.”

Indirectly owned through Ctrip Travel Holding (Hong Kong) Limited and Ctrip.com (Hong Kong) Limited, both of which are Hong Kong
companies.

Indirectly owned through Ctrip Investment (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., a PRC company.

Indirectly owned through Queen’s Road Travel Information Limited, a Hong Kong company.

Min Fan and Qi Shi hold 99.5% and 0.5% of the equity interest in Chengdu Ctrip Travel Agency Co., Ltd., respectively.

Bo Sun and Maohua Sun hold 89.8% and 10.2% of the equity interest in Shanghai Ctrip Commerce Co., Ltd., respectively.

Hui Cao and Hui Wang hold 60% and 40% of the equity interest in Beijing Qu Na Information Technology Co., Ltd., respectively.
5



Trip.com Group Limited is not a Chinese operating company but a Cayman Islands holding company with no equity ownership in the VIEs. We
conduct our operations in China through (i) our PRC subsidiaries and (ii) the VIEs with which we have maintained contractual arrangements and their
PRC subsidiaries. PRC laws and regulations prohibit foreign investment in internet and other related businesses. Accordingly, we operate these
businesses in China through the VIEs, and rely on contractual arrangements among our PRC subsidiaries, the VIEs, and their shareholders to direct the
business operations of the VIEs. Such structure enables investors to share economic interests in China-based companies in sectors where foreign direct
investment is prohibited or restricted under PRC laws and regulations. Net revenues contributed by the VIEs accounted for 36%, 30%, and 22% of our
total net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, respectively. As used in this annual report, “we,” “our company,” or
“Trip.com Group” refers to Trip.com Group Limited, its subsidiaries, and, in the context of describing our operations and consolidated financial
information, the VIEs in China, primarily including Shanghai Ctrip Commerce Co., Ltd., Shanghai Huacheng Southwest International Travel Agency
Co., Ltd., Chengdu Ctrip Travel Agency Co., Ltd., and Beijing Qu Na Information Technology Co., Ltd. Investors in the ADSs are not purchasing any
equity interest in the VIEs in China but instead are purchasing the equity interest in a holding company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and may
never directly hold equity interests in the VIEs in China.

A series of contractual agreements, including powers of attorney, technical consulting and services agreement, equity pledge agreements,
exclusive option agreements, and loan agreements, have been entered into by and among our PRC subsidiaries, the VIEs, and their respective
shareholders. Terms contained in each set of contractual arrangements with the VIEs and their respective shareholders are substantially similar. As
advised by Commerce & Finance Law Offices, our PRC legal counsel, subject to the disclosure in this annual report, the terms of the contractual
arrangements are valid, binding, and enforceable under currently effective PRC laws and regulations. As a result of the contractual arrangements, we are
considered the primary beneficiary of the VIEs for accounting purposes and thus have consolidated the results of operations, financial position, and cash
flows of the VIEs in our consolidated financial statements under U.S. GAAP. The contractual arrangements with the VIEs provide us with a “controlling
financial interest” in the VIEs as defined in FASB ASC 810 by entitling us to (i) the power to direct activities of the VIEs that most significantly affect
their economic performance, and (ii) the right to receive the economic benefits from the VIEs that could be significant to them. Neither Trip.com Group
Limited nor its investors has an equity ownership (including foreign direct investment) in, or control through such equity ownership of, the VIEs, and
the contractual arrangements are not equivalent to an equity ownership in the business of the VIEs. For more details of these contractual arrangements,
see “Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions—B. Related Party Transactions—Arrangements with the VIEs and Their
Shareholders.”

However, the contractual arrangements may not be as effective as direct ownership in providing us with control over the VIEs and we may incur
substantial costs to enforce the terms of the arrangements. As such, the VIE structure involves unique risks to investors of our Cayman Islands holding
company. In addition, the legality and enforceability of the contractual agreements by and among our PRC subsidiaries, the VIEs, and their respective
shareholders, as a whole, have not been tested in a court of law in China. See “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our
Corporate Structure—If the VIEs violate our contractual arrangements with them, our business could be disrupted, our reputation may be harmed and
we may have to resort to litigation to enforce our rights, which may be time-consuming and expensive” and “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors
—Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure—The principal shareholders of the VIEs have potential conflict of interest with us, which may adversely
affect our business.”

Our corporate structure is subject to risks associated with our contractual arrangements with the VIEs and our investors may never directly hold
equity interests in the VIEs. If the PRC government deems that our contractual arrangements with the VIEs do not comply with PRC regulatory
restrictions on foreign investment in the relevant industries, or if these regulations or the interpretation of existing regulations change or are interpreted
differently in the future, we could be subject to severe penalties or be forced to relinquish our interests in those operations. Our holding company, our
subsidiaries, and the VIEs, and investors of our company face uncertainty about potential future actions by the PRC government that could affect the
enforceability of the contractual arrangements with the VIEs and, consequently, significantly affect the financial performance of the VIEs and our
company as a whole. The PRC regulatory authorities could disallow the VIE structure, which would likely result in a material change in our operations
and cause the value of our securities, including those that we may register for sale, to significantly decline or become worthless. For a detailed
description of the risks associated with our corporate structure, see “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Corporate
Structure.”



There are also substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation and application of current and future PRC laws, regulations, and rules
regarding the status of the rights of our Cayman Islands holding company with respect to its contractual arrangements with the VIEs and their
shareholders. It is uncertain whether any new PRC laws or regulations relating to VIE structures will be adopted or if adopted, what they would provide.
If we or any of the VIEs is found to be in violation of any existing or future PRC laws or regulations, or fail to obtain or maintain any of the required
permits or approvals, the relevant PRC regulatory authorities would have broad discretion to take action in dealing with such violations or failures. See
“Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure—PRC laws and regulations restrict foreign investment in the
travel agency and value-added telecommunications businesses, and substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the application and implementation of
PRC laws and regulations” and “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure—Our business may be
significantly affected by the PRC Foreign Investment Law.”

We face various legal and operational risks and uncertainties relating to doing business in China. Our business operations are primarily conducted
in China, and we are subject to complex and evolving PRC laws and regulations. For example, the PRC government has recently issued statements and
regulatory actions relating to areas such as the use of contractual arrangements in certain industries, regulatory approvals on overseas offerings and
listings by, and foreign investment in, China-based issuers, the use of the VIEs, anti-monopoly regulatory actions, and oversight on cybersecurity and
data privacy. As the regulatory developments relating to these areas are relatively new and rapidly evolving, substantial uncertainties remain in relation
to their interpretation and implementation. It also remains uncertain whether we will comply with the relevant regulatory requirements, including but not
limited to filings or approvals, from the CSRC, the Cyberspace Administration of China, or the CAC, or any other PRC government authorities in all
material respects. In addition, if future regulatory developments mandate clearance of cybersecurity review or other specific actions to be completed by
China-based companies listed on foreign stock exchanges, such as us, we face uncertainties as to whether such clearance can be timely obtained, or at
all. As of the date of this annual report, regulatory actions relating to data security or anti-monopoly concerns in Hong Kong or Macao do not have a
material impact on our ability to conduct business, accept foreign investment in the future, continue to list on a United States stock exchange or maintain
our listing status on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. However, new regulatory actions relating to data security or anti-monopoly concerns in Hong
Kong or Macao may be taken in the future, and there can be no assurance as to whether such regulatory actions may have a material impact on our
ability to conduct business, accept foreign investment, continue to list on a United States stock exchange or maintain our listing status on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. We face risks and uncertainties associated with not only these statements and regulatory actions, but also the prospective uncertainties
as to the inability of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or the PCAOB, to completely inspect registered public accounting firms
headquartered in mainland China (including our independent auditor). These risks may impact our ability to conduct certain businesses, accept foreign
investments, or list on a United States or other exchange outside China, and could result in a material adverse change in our operations and the value of
our ADSs, significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to continue to offer securities to investors, or cause the value of such securities to
significantly decline or become worthless. For a detailed description of risks relating to doing business in China, please refer to the risks disclosed under
“Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China.”

The PRC government’s significant authority in regulating our operations and its oversight and control over offerings conducted overseas by, and
foreign investment in, China-based issuers could significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer or continue to offer securities to investors.
Implementation of industry-wide regulations in this nature, such as data security or anti-monopoly related regulations, may cause the value of such
securities to significantly decline. For more details, see “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—The
PRC government’s significant oversight and discretion over our business operation could result in a material adverse change in our operations and the
value of our ADSs and ordinary shares.”

Risks and uncertainties arising from the legal system in China, including risks and uncertainties regarding the enforcement of laws and quickly
evolving rules and regulations in China, could result in a material adverse change in our operations and the value of our ADSs. For more details, see
“Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could
adversely affect us.”



The Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act

Pursuant to the Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act, or the HFCAA, if the SEC determines that we have filed audit reports issued by a
registered public accounting firm that has not been subject to inspections by the PCAOB for two consecutive years, the SEC will prohibit our shares or
the ADSs from being traded on a national securities exchange or in the over-the-counter trading market in the United States. On December 16, 2021, the
PCAOB issued a report to notify the SEC of its determination that the PCAOB was unable to inspect or investigate completely registered public
accounting firms headquartered in mainland China and Hong Kong, including our auditor. In May 2022, the SEC conclusively listed Trip.com Group
Limited as a Commission-Identified Issuer under the HFCAA following the filing of our annual report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021. On December 15, 2022, the PCAOB issued a report that vacated its December 16, 2021 determination and removed mainland
China and Hong Kong from the list of jurisdictions where it is unable to inspect or investigate completely registered public accounting firms. For this
reason, we do not expect to be identified as a Commission-Identified Issuer under the HFCAA after we file this annual report on Form 20-F. Each year,
the PCAOB will determine whether it can inspect and investigate completely audit firms in mainland China and Hong Kong, among other jurisdictions.
If PCAOB determines in the future that it no longer has full access to inspect and investigate completely accounting firms in mainland China and Hong
Kong and we continue to use an accounting firm headquartered in one of these jurisdictions to issue an audit report on our financial statements filed with
the SEC, we would be identified as a Commission-Identified Issuer following the filing of the annual report on Form 20-F for the relevant fiscal year.
There can be no assurance that we would not be identified as a Commission-Identified Issuer for any future fiscal year, and if we were so identified for
two consecutive years, we would become subject to the prohibition on trading under the HFCAA. See “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—
Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—The PCAOB had historically been unable to inspect our auditor in relation to their audit work performed
for our financial statements and the inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections of our auditor in the past has deprived our investors with the benefits
of such inspections” and “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—Our ADSs may be prohibited from
trading in the United States under the HFCAA in the future if the PCAOB is unable to inspect or investigate completely auditors located in China. The
delisting of the ADSs, or the threat of their being delisted, may materially and adversely affect the value of your investment.”

Permissions and Approvals Required from the PRC Authorities for Our Operations

We conduct our business primarily through our PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs in China. Our operations in China are governed by PRC laws and
regulations. As of the date of this annual report, as advised by Commerce & Finance Law Offices, our PRC legal counsel, our PRC subsidiaries and the
VIEs have obtained all of the requisite permissions and approvals from the PRC government authorities for our accommodation reservation,
transportation ticketing, packaged-tour, and corporate travel businesses, including, among others, value added telecommunications operating licenses,
travel agency operation licenses, and an insurance agency license, except for certain permission and approval requirements in mainland China relating to
our business of providing ancillary mobility services for transportation ticketing in mainland China, which represents a nominal portion of our
transportation ticketing revenues, and subject to the uncertainties with respect to the interpretation and application of PRC laws, regulations, and
policies. For details, see “Item 3. Key Information— D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—We have attempted to comply with
the PRC regulations regarding licensing requirements. If the PRC laws and regulations change, our business in China may be adversely affected. Any
lack of requisite approvals, licenses, or permits applicable to our business or any failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations may materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.” In addition, our subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Macao also have
obtained travel agency operation licenses and insurance agency licenses that are necessary for their respective businesses from the Hong Kong and
Macao authorities. As of the date of this annual report, we, our PRC subsidiaries, or the VIEs have not received any denial notification from the relevant
authorities in connection with the applications for the necessary permissions or approvals to conduct our business. Given the uncertainties of
interpretation and implementation of relevant laws and regulations and the enforcement practice by relevant government authorities, we may be required
to obtain additional approvals and permissions for our business operations in the future. If we, our subsidiaries or the VIEs do not receive or maintain
any necessary permissions or approvals, inadvertently conclude that such permissions or approvals are not required, or if applicable laws, regulations, or
interpretations change and we are required to obtain such permissions or approvals in the future, we cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain the
necessary permissions or approvals in a timely manner, or at all, and such approvals may be rescinded even if obtained. Any such circumstance could
subject us to penalties, including fines, suspension of business, and revocation of required licenses, significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to
continue to offer securities to investors and cause the value of such securities to significantly decline or become worthless. For more detailed
information, see “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—We have attempted to comply with the PRC
regulations regarding licensing requirements. If the PRC laws and regulations change, our business in China may be adversely affected. Any lack of
requisite approvals, licenses, or permits applicable to our business or any failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations may materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.”
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On February 17, 2023, the CSRC promulgated the Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic
Companies, or the Overseas Offering and Listing Measures, which will come into effect on March 31, 2023. On the same day, the CSRC also published
a series of guidance rules and Q&As in connection with the implementation of the Overseas Offering and Listing Measures. The Overseas Offering and
Listing Measures establishes a new filing-based regime to regulate overseas offerings and listings by PRC domestic companies. According to the
Overseas Offering and Listing Measures, an overseas offering of securities (including shares, depository receipts, corporate bonds convertible into
shares and other securities in nature of equity) and listing by a PRC domestic company, either in direct or indirect manner, has to be filed with the
CSRC. Failure to comply with the filing requirements may result in fines to the relevant PRC domestic companies, the controlling shareholder, and other
responsible persons. The relevant responsible persons may be prohibited from entering the securities market by the CSRC in cases of serious violations
and may be held criminally liable. As advised by Commerce & Finance Law Offices, our PRC legal counsel, due to the fact that our ADSs have been
listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market and our ordinary shares have been listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, we will be deemed as an
“Existing Issuer” pursuant to the Overseas Offering and Listing Measures and the implementation guidance and are not required to complete the filing
procedures with the CSRC for our historical securities offering. Nevertheless, in the event that we conduct any securities offerings that will be captured
by the Overseas Offering and Listing Measures after they come into effect, we will have to complete the filing procedures with the CSRC within three
business days following the closing of the securities issuance or offering.

Therefore, in connection with our business operations and issuance or offering of securities to foreign investors, as advised by Commerce &
Finance Law Offices, our PRC legal counsel, under currently effective PRC laws, regulations, and rules and taking the Overseas Offering and Listing
Measures into account, as of the date of this annual report, we, our PRC subsidiaries, and the VIEs, (i) are not required to obtain permissions from or
complete filing procedures with the CSRC for our historical issuances or offerings of securities to foreign investors that have been completed before the
date of implementation of the Overseas Offering and Listing Measures, but are required to go through filing procedures with the CSRC for our future
issuance or offering of securities (including shares, depository receipts, corporate bonds convertible into shares, and other securities in nature of equity)
to foreign investors if we meet certain conditions set forth in the Overseas Offering and Listing Measures to be considered an indirect overseas offering
and listing by a PRC domestic company, (ii) are not required to go through cybersecurity review by the CAC for our issuance or offering of securities to
foreign investors, (iii) are required to go through the examination and registration procedures with the PRC National Development and Reform
Commission, or the NDRC, for our issuance or offering of certain debt securities, as mandated by the relevant NDRC circular, to foreign investors, and
(iv) are not required to obtain any prior permission or approval from any other PRC government authorities for our issuance or offering of securities to
foreign investors. If we, our subsidiaries, or the VIEs are deemed to be a critical information infrastructure operator, or CIIO, or a network platform
operator, whose network product or service purchasing or data processing activities affect or may affect national security, we would be required to go
through a cybersecurity review by the CAC. As of the date of this annual report, none of our company, our subsidiaries, or the VIEs has been identified
as a CIIO by any government authorities, nor have been involved in any investigations or become subject to a cybersecurity review initiated by the CAC
based on the Cybersecurity Review Measures. As of the date of this annual report, we completed the foreign debt registrations with the NDRC for all
debt offerings that were subject to such requirement and have not been required to apply for, nor have been denied for, any other permission or approval
with respect to our issuance or offering of securities to foreign investors. For more details, see “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks
Relating to Our Business and Industry—Our failure to comply with privacy and data protection laws and regulations in various jurisdictions could
subject us to sanctions, damages, and litigation, and could harm our reputation and business.” However, Commerce & Finance Law Offices, our PRC
legal counsel, has further advised us that there remain some uncertainties as to how relevant rules published by the PRC government authorities will be
interpreted or implemented, and its opinions summarized above are subject to any new laws, rules, regulations, or detailed implementations and
interpretations in any form. We cannot assure you that relevant PRC government authorities, including the CSRC and the CAC, would reach the same
conclusion as that of our PRC legal counsel, and hence, we may face regulatory actions or other sanctions from them. For more details, see “Item 3. Key
Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—The PRC government’s significant oversight and discretion over our
business operation could result in a material adverse change in our operations and the value of our ADSs and ordinary shares” and “Item 3. Key
Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—The approval of and the filing with the CSRC or other PRC government
authorities may be required in connection with our offshore offerings in the future under PRC law, and, if required, we cannot predict whether or for
how long we will be able to obtain such approval or complete such filing.”



Cash and Asset Flows Through Our Organization

Trip.com Group Limited is a holding company with no material operations of its own. We conduct our operations in China primarily through our
PRC subsidiaries, the VIEs, and their PRC subsidiaries. As a result, Trip.com Group Limited’s ability to pay dividends and to service any debt that it
may incur depends upon dividends paid by our PRC subsidiaries and service fees paid by the VIEs. If our existing PRC subsidiaries, the VIEs or any
newly formed ones incur debt on their own behalf in the future, the instruments governing their debt may restrict their ability to pay dividends or make
other payments to Trip.com Group Limited. In addition, our PRC subsidiaries are permitted to pay dividends to us only out of their retained earnings, if
any, as determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. Under PRC law, each of our PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs in China
is required to make appropriations to certain statutory reserve funds or may make appropriations to certain discretionary funds, which are not
distributable as cash dividends except in the event of a solvent liquidation of the companies. For more details, see “Item 5. Operating and Financial
Review and Prospects—B. Liquidity and Capital Resources—Holding Company Structure” and “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks
Relating to Our Corporate Structure—Our PRC subsidiaries are subject to restrictions on paying dividends or making other payments to us while the
VIEs can only make payments to us in accordance with the contractual arrangements, which may restrict our ability to satisfy our liquidity
requirements.”

The ability to transfer cash and other assets within our organization may be subject to conditions and restrictions pursuant to the applicable laws
and regulations. For example, under the PRC laws and regulations, Trip.com Group Limited may provide funding to our PRC subsidiaries only through
capital contributions or loans, and to the VIEs only through loans, subject to satisfaction of applicable government registration and approval
requirements. Trip.com Group Limited’s ability to pay dividends to the shareholders and the ADS holders and to service any debt it may incur may
depend upon dividends paid by our PRC subsidiaries and license and service fees paid by the VIEs. Additionally, under the PRC laws and regulations,
our PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs are subject to certain restrictions with respect to payment of dividends or otherwise transfers of any of their net assets
to us. Remittance of dividends by a wholly foreign-owned enterprise out of China is also subject to examination by the banks designated by the PRC
State Administration of Foreign Exchange, or the SAFE. These restrictions are benchmarked against the paid-up capital and the statutory reserve funds
of our PRC subsidiaries and the net assets of the VIEs in which we have no legal ownership. As of December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, the total amount
of such restriction to which our PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs are subject was RMB7.8 billion, RMB6.5 billion, and RMB6.2 billion (US$0.9 billion),
respectively. Furthermore, cash transfers from our PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs to entities outside of China are subject to PRC government control on
currency conversion. As a result, the funds in our PRC subsidiaries or the VIEs in China may not be available to fund operations or for other use outside
of China due to interventions in, or the imposition of restrictions and limitations on, the ability of our holding company, our subsidiaries, or the VIEs by
the PRC government on such currency conversion. For details, see “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Corporate
Structure—Our PRC subsidiaries are subject to restrictions on paying dividends or making other payments to us while the VIEs can only make
payments to us in accordance with the contractual arrangements, which may restrict our ability to satisfy our liquidity requirements” and “Item 3. Key
Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—Restrictions on currency exchange may limit our ability to receive and use
our revenues effectively.”
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Our company has established a centralized cash management policy to direct how funds are transferred between Trip.com Group Limited, our
subsidiaries, and the VIEs to improve the efficiency and ensure the security of cash management, and cash is centrally managed by the treasury. Funds
are transferred among Trip.com Group Limited, our subsidiaries, and the VIEs through our cash pooling structure, intercompany loans, and deposits or
entrusted loans, depending on the circumstances and taking the regulatory and taxation requirements into consideration.

Our board of directors has complete discretion as to whether we will distribute dividends in the future, subject to the approval of our shareholders.
Even if our board of directors determines to distribute dividends, the form, frequency, and amount of our dividends will depend upon our future
operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions, potential tax implications, and other
factors as the board of directors may deem relevant. Any dividend we declare will be paid to the holders of ADSs, subject to the terms of the deposit
agreement, to the same extent as holders of our ordinary shares, less the fees and expenses payable under the deposit agreement. Any dividend we
declare will be distributed by the depositary bank to the holders of ADSs. Cash dividends on our ordinary shares, including those represented by the
ADSs, if any, will be paid in U.S. dollars. For more details, see “Item 8. Financial Information— A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial
Information—Dividend Policy.”

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, Trip.com Group Limited provided capital contributions of RMB903 million, nil, and
RMBS580 million, respectively, to its subsidiaries.

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, Trip.com Group Limited’s cash flows of loan funding provided to its subsidiaries, net of
repayments received, were net cash outflows of RMB358 million, net cash inflows of RMBI1.1 billion, and net cash outflows of RMB758 million,
respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, our subsidiaries did not extend any loan funding to Trip.com Group Limited.

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, the VIEs’ cash flows of loan funding provided to our subsidiaries, net of repayments
received, were net cash inflows of RMB817 million, net cash outflows of RMB434 million, and net cash inflows of RMBA4.0 billion, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, the VIEs’ cash flows of loan funding received from our subsidiaries, net of repayments
made, were net cash outflows of RMB2.2 billion, net cash outflows of RMB3.8 billion, and net cash outflows of RMB7.8 billion, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, no assets other than cash were transferred between our Cayman Islands holding
company and a subsidiary, a VIE, or its subsidiary, and no subsidiary paid dividends or made other distributions to our Cayman Islands holding
company. For details of the financial position, cash flows, and results of operations of the VIEs, see “—Financial Information Relating to the VIEs” and
pages F-15 and F-16 of this annual report on Form 20-F.

Trip.com Group Limited has not declared or paid any cash dividends for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, nor does it have
any present plan to pay any cash dividends on its ordinary shares in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain most, if not all, of our available
funds and any future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business. See “Item 8. Financial Information—A. Consolidated Statements
and Other Financial Information—Dividend Policy.” For the material Cayman Islands, PRC and U.S. federal income tax consequences of an investment
in our ADSs or ordinary shares, see “Item 10. Additional Information—E. Taxation.”

Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following table presents the selected consolidated financial information for our business. You should read the following information in
conjunction with “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects” below. The selected consolidated statements of income/(loss) data for the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022 and the selected consolidated balance sheets data as of December 31, 2021 and 2022 have been derived
from our audited consolidated financial statements and should be read in conjunction with those statements, which are included in this annual report
beginning on page F-1. The selected consolidated statements of income/(loss) data for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019 and the selected
consolidated balance sheets data as of December 31, 2018, 2019, and 2020 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements for
these periods, which are not included in this annual report.
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Our historical results do not necessarily indicate results expected for any future periods.

Selected Consolidated Statements of
Income/(Loss) Data

Net revenues

Cost of revenues

Gross profit

Operating expenses

—Product development(1)

—Sales and marketing(1)

—General and administrative(l)

Total operating expenses

Income/ (loss) from operations

Net interest (expense)/income and other
(expense)/income(2)

Income /(loss) before income tax expense and
equity in (loss)/income of affiliates

Income tax expense

Equity in (loss)/income of affiliates

Net income /(loss)

Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling
interests

Accretion to redemption value of redeemable
non-controlling interests(®)

Net income /(loss) attributable to Trip.com Group
Limited

Earnings/(losses) per ordinary share data:

Earnings/(losses) per ordinary share®)®), basic

Earnings/(losses) per ordinary share(®®), diluted

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding®),
basic

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding(4),
diluted

For the Year Ended December 31,

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB US$
(in millions, except for share and per share data)

30,965 35,666 18,316 20,023 20,039 2,907
(6,324) (7,372) (4,031) (4,598) (4,513) (654)

24,641 28,294 14,285 15,425 15,526 2,253
(9,620) (10,670) (7,667) (8,992) (8,341) (1,209)
(9,596) (9,295) (4,405) (4,922) (4,250) (616)
(2,820) (3,289) (3,636) (2,922) (2,847) (413)
(22,036) (23,254) (15,708) (16,836) (15,438) (2,238)

2,605 5,040 (1,423) (1,411) 88 15

(684) 4,047 198 940 2,547 370

1,921 9,087 (1,225) 471) 2,635 385
(793) (1,742) (355) (270) (682) (99)
(32) (347) (1,689) 96 (586) (85)

1,096 6,998 (3,269) (645) 1,367 201

16 57 62 95 36 5

— (44) (40) — — —

1,112 7,011 (3,247) (550) 1,403 206

2.03 12.35 (5.40) (0.87) 2.17 0.31

1.96 11.50 (5.40) (0.87) 2.14 0.31

547,227,408 567,871,968 600,888,208 634,109,233 648,380,590 648,380,590

567,396,984 641,952,112 600,888,208 634,109,233 657,092,826 657,092,826
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As of December 31,
2018 20196) 2020 2021 2022(0)
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB US$
(in millions)

Selected Consolidated Balance Sheets Data

Cash and cash equivalents 21,530 19,923 18,096 19,818 17,000 2,465
Restricted cash 4,244 1,824 1,319 1,378 1,487 216
Short-term investments 36,753 23,058 24,820 29,566 25,545 3,703
Current assets 79,394 67,955 58,011 66,108 61,435 8,907
Investments(2) 26,874 51,278 47,943 44,961 50,177 7,275
Total assets 185,830 200,169 187,249 191,859 191,691 27,793
Current liabilities 68,784 69,182 58,369 66,218 61,239 8,879
Long-term debt 24,146 19,537 22,718 11,093 13,177 1,911
Total liabilities 97,097 93,324 85,682 81,403 78,672 11,407
Redeemable non-controlling interests(®) — 1,142 — — — —
Share capital 5 6 6 6 6 1
Total Trip.com Group Limited shareholders’ equity 86,715 103,442 100,354 109,677 112,283 16,279
Non-controlling interests 2,018 2,261 1,213 779 736 107
Total shareholders’ equity 88,733 105,703 101,567 110,456 113,019 16,386
Notes:

(1) Share-based compensation was included in the related operating expense categories as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

(in millions)

Product development 934 919 964 802 567 82
Sales and marketing 156 144 159 149 115 17
General and administrative 617 651 750 730 506 73

2) In 2018, we disposed certain long-term investments and recognized a gain of RMB1.2 billion. In January 2018, we adopted a new financial instruments accounting standard, ASU
No. 2016-01, which requires equity investments to be measured at fair value with subsequent changes recognized in net income, except for those accounted for under the equity
method or requiring consideration. Fair value changes for such equity investments and exchangeable notes were a fair value loss of RMB612 million, a fair value loss of
RMB170 million, and a fair value gain of RMB1.3 billion for the year ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, respectively. The new standard also changes the accounting for
investments without a readily determinable fair value and that do not qualify for the practical expedient to estimate fair value. A policy election can be made for these investments
whereby investment will be carried at cost and adjusted in subsequent periods for any impairment or changes in observable prices of identical or similar investments.

3) Each ADS represents one ordinary share.

4 On March 18, 2021, we effected a change to our authorized share capital by one (1)-to-eight (8) subdivision of shares. Concurrently, we effected a proportionate change in ADS to
ordinary share ratio from eight (8) ADSs representing one (1) ordinary share to one (1) ADS representing one (1) ordinary share. Such changes have been reflected retrospectively
throughout this document.

%) Effective from January 1, 2019, we adopted ASC No. 2018-11, a new accounting standard on the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities issued by FASB in 2018, and
have applied this accounting standard on a modified retrospective basis and have elected not to restate comparative periods. See Notes 2 and 11 to our audited consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this annual report for further information.

(6) One of our subsidiaries issued redeemable preferred shares to certain third-party investors in 2019. These preferred shares are redeemable at a holder’s option when that subsidiary
fails to complete a qualified IPO in a pre-agreed period of time since its issuance with a redemption price measured by 10% interest per annum. These preferred shares are therefore
accounted for as redeemable non-controlling interests in mezzanine equity and are accreted to the redemption value over the period starting from the issuance date. In 2020, we lost the
control in this subsidiary, and therefore financial position and results of operations of this subsidiary was deconsolidated.

7) In the course of preparing our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022, we reclassified the exchangeable senior notes in an amount of
RMB4,204 million from “long-term debt” on our consolidated balance sheet as was previously reported in the earnings release reporting the unaudited fourth quarter and full year of
2022 financial results to “short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt.” The reclassification did not affect the total assets, total liabilities or total shareholders’ equity on our
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022, nor did it have any impact to our consolidated statement of income/(loss) and comprehensive income/(loss) or consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Financial Information Relating to the VIEs

The following tables present the condensed consolidating schedules of financial information of Trip.com Group Limited, our subsidiaries that are
the primary beneficiaries of the VIEs, our other subsidiaries, and the VIEs and their subsidiaries for the years and as of the dates indicated.

Condensed Consolidated Results of Operations Data

Third-party net revenues

Inter-company net revenues(!)

Third-party cost of revenues and operating expenses

Inter-company cost of revenues and operating expenses(1)

(Loss)/income from operations

Share of income from subsidiaries and the VIEs®)

Net interest (expense)/income and other (expense)/income

Income/(loss) before income tax expense and equity in (loss)/income
of affiliates

Income tax expense

Equity in (loss)/income of affiliates

Net income/(loss)

Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests

Net income/(loss) attributable to Trip.com Group Limited

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Primary The VIEs
Trip.com Beneficiaries and
Group Other of their Eliminating Consolidated
Limited  Subsidiaries the VIEs Subsidiaries  Adjustments Totals
(RMB in millions)
— 14,355 1,997 3,687 — 20,039
— 148 2,895 648 (3,691) —
(16)  (12,970) (3,657) (3,308) — (19,951)
— (1,834) 3) (1,854) 3,691 —
(16) (301) 1,232 (827) — 88
1,550 1,071 111 — (2,732) —
(30) 1,945 210 422 — 2,547
1,504 2,715 1,553 (405) (2,732) 2,635
— (709) 75 (48) — (682)
(101) (500) 49 (34) — (586)
1,403 1,506 1,677 487) (2,732) 1,367
— 44 — 8) — 36
1,403 1,550 1,677 (495) (2,732) 1,403
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Third-party net revenues

Inter-company net revenues(1)

Third-party cost of revenues and operating expenses

Inter-company cost of revenues and operating expenses(!)

(Loss)/income from operations

Share of income from subsidiaries and the VIEs®)

Net interest (expense)/income and other (expense)/income

(Loss)/income before income tax expense and equity in income/(loss)
of affiliates

Income tax (expense)/benefit

Equity in income/(loss) of affiliates

Net (loss)/income

Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests

Net (loss)/income attributable to Trip.com Group Limited

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Primary The VIEs
Trip.com Beneficiaries and
Group Other of their Eliminating Consolidated
Limited Subsidiaries the VIEs Subsidiaries  Adjustments Totals
(RMB in millions)
— 12,226 2,055 5,742 — 20,023
— 122 2,578 293 (2,993) —
(13) (12,095) (4,115) (5,211) — (21,434)
— (1,217) — (1,776) 2,993 —
a13) (964) 518 952) — (1,411)
742 614 1,043 — (2,399) —
(1,289) 1,181 216 832 — 940
(560) 831 1,777 (120) (2,399) @71)
— (257) (86) 73 — (270)
10 66 85 (65) — 96
(550) 640 1,776 (112) (2,399) (645)
— 102 — ) — 95
(550) 742 1,776 (119) (2,399) (550)
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Third-party net revenues

Inter-company net revenues(1)

Third-party cost of revenues and operating expenses

Inter-company cost of revenues and operating expenses(!)

(Loss)/income from operations

Share of income/(loss) from subsidiaries and the VIEs()

Net interest (expense)/income and other (expense)/income

(Loss)/income before income tax expense and equity in loss of
affiliates

Income tax (expense)/benefit

Equity in loss of affiliates

Net (loss)/income

Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests

Accretion to redemption value of redeemable non-controlling
interests

Net (loss)/income attributable to Trip.com Group Limited

Notes:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Primary The VIEs
Trip.com Beneficiaries and
Group Other of their Eliminating Consolidated
Limited Subsidiaries the VIEs Subsidiaries Adjustments Totals
(RMB in millions)
— 9,763 2,349 6,204 — 18,316
— — 2,207 309 (2,516) —
(201) (9,918) (4,105) (5,515) — (19,739)
— (778) — (1,738) 2,516 —
(201) 933) 451 (740) — (1,423)
68 126 (601) — 407 —
(1,922) 1,396 262 462 — 198
(2,055) 589 112 (278) 407 (1,225)
— (144) (284) 73 — (355)
(1,192) (407) (49) (41) — (1,689)
(3,247) 38 @21) (246) 407 (3,269)
— 70 — ®) — 62
— (40) — — — (40)
(3,247) 68 (221) (254) 407 (3,247)

(1) It represents the elimination of the intercompany service charge at the consolidation level. For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, the service fees of the VIEs and
their subsidiaries charged by the primary beneficiaries of the VIEs were RMB1.7 billion, RMB1.7 billion, and RMB1.7 billion, respectively.

2) It represents the elimination of the investment among Trip.com Group Limited, other subsidiaries, primary beneficiaries of the VIEs, and the VIEs and their subsidiaries.
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Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets Data

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Short-term investments

Accounts receivable

Due from related parties

Prepayments and other current assets
Amount due from Group companies(!)
Long-term prepayments and other assets
Long-term receivables due from related parties
Land use rights

Property, equipment and software
Investments

Investment in subsidiaries and the VIEs()
Goodwill

Intangible assets

Right-of-use assets

Deferred tax assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt

Accounts payable

Due to related parties

Salary and welfare payable

Taxes payable

Advances from customers

Accrued liability for rewards program
Other payables and accruals

Amount due to Group companies(1)
Deferred tax liabilities

Long-term debt

Long-term lease liability

Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

As of December 31, 2022

Primary The VIEs
Trip.com Beneficiaries and

Group Other of their Consolidated

Limited Subsidiaries the VIEs Subsidiaries Eliminations Totals

(RMB in millions)

12 10,216 3,881 2,891 — 17,000
— 893 145 449 — 1,487
— 19,847 3,055 2,643 — 25,545
— 4,779 101 606 — 5,486
— 1,432 79 237 — 1,748
192 7,403 199 2,375 — 10,169
19,009 7,829 4,619 4,852 (36,309) —
— 297 26 222 — 545
— — — 25 — 25
— 38 45 — — 83
— 4,716 441 47 — 5,204
13,136 27,320 7,600 2,121 — 50,177
103,623 10,256 13,630 — (127,509) —
— 58,950 48 339 — 59,337
— 12,431 — 311 — 12,742
— 761 37 21 — 819
— 805 178 341 — 1,324
135972 167,973 34,084 17,480  (163,818) 191,691
10,945 11,050 5,464 5,215 — 32,674
— 5,911 161 1,497 — 7,569
— 108 40 8 — 156
— 2,117 1,608 193 — 3,918
— 509 304 22 — 835
— 7,008 58 1,212 — 8,278
— 313 7 76 — 396
206 4,179 933 2,095 — 7,413
577 26,790 3,791 5,150 (36,308) —
— 3,407 — 80 — 3,487
13,154 23 — — — 13,177
— 513 11 10 — 534
— 235 — — — 235
24,882 62,163 12377 15558  (36,308) 78,672
111,090 105,810 21,707 1,922 (127,510) 113,019
135972 167,973 34,084 17,480  (163,818) 191,691
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ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Short-term investments

Accounts receivable

Due from related parties

Prepayments and other current assets
Amount due from Group companies(!)
Long-term prepayments and other assets
Long-term receivables due from related parties
Land use rights

Property, equipment and software
Investments

Investment in subsidiaries and the VIEs(2)
Goodwill

Intangible assets

Right-of-use assets

Deferred tax assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt

Accounts payable

Due to related parties

Salary and welfare payable

Taxes payable

Advances from customers

Accrued liability for rewards program
Other payables and accruals

Amount due to Group companies(1)
Deferred tax liabilities

Long-term debt

Long-term lease liability

Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Notes:

As of December 31, 2021

Primary The VIEs
Trip.com Beneficiaries and

Group Other of their Consolidated

Limited Subsidiaries the VIEs Subsidiaries Eliminations Totals

(RMB in millions)

11 11,580 1,143 7,084 — 19,818
— 859 123 396 — 1,378
— 20,677 7,277 1,612 — 29,566
— 2,002 167 2,480 — 4,649
— 1,336 101 228 — 1,665
45 6,597 182 2,208 — 9,032
18,251 13,889 7,207 8,810 (48,157) —
— 152 33 186 — 371
— — — 25 — 25
— 40 46 — — 86
— 4,944 532 58 — 5,534
11,574 22,426 6,981 3,980 — 44,961
101,989 12,891 10,631 — (125,511) —
— 58,966 48 339 — 59,353
— 12,627 — 333 — 12,960
— 649 93 35 — 777
— 1,149 187 348 — 1,684
131,870 170,784 34,751 28,122 (173,668) 191,859
11,297 15,189 8,070 5,310 — 39,866
— 3,853 222 1,944 — 6,019
— 86 36 16 — 138
— 1,921 1,744 229 — 3,894
— 542 470 53 — 1,065
— 5,530 113 1,892 — 7,535
— 319 15 66 — 400
46 3,642 1,140 2,473 — 7,301
578 32,280 2,353 12,946 (48,157) —
— 3,432 — 95 — 3,527
10,435 658 — — — 11,093
— 340 39 21 — 400
— 165 — — — 165
22,356 67,957 14,202 25,045  (48,157) 81,403
109,514 102,827 20,549 3,077 (125,511) 110,456
131,870 170,784 34,751 28,122 (173,668) 191,859

(1) It represents the elimination of intercompany balances among Trip.com Group Limited, other subsidiaries, primary beneficiaries of the VIEs, and the VIEs and their subsidiaries for

treasury cash management purpose.

2) It represents the elimination of the investment among Trip.com Group Limited, other subsidiaries, primary beneficiaries of the VIEs, and the VIEs and their subsidiaries.



Condensed Consolidated Cash Flows

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities()

Capital contribution to Group companies

Cash flows of loan funding provided to group companies, net of
repayments received

Other investing activities

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities

Capital contribution from Group companies

Cash flows of loan funding received from group companies, net
of repayments made

Other financing activities

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities()

Capital contribution to Group companies

Cash flows of loan funding provided to group companies, net of
repayments received

Other investing activities

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares net of issuance cost

Capital contribution from Group companies

Cash flows of loan funding received from group companies, net
of repayments made

Other financing activities

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Primary The VIEs
Trip.com Beneficiaries and
Group Other of their Eliminating Consolidated
Limited Subsidiaries the VIEs Subsidiaries Adjustments Totals
(RMB in millions)
(682) 3,508 1,492 (1,677) — 2,641
(580) — (3,550) — 4,130 —
(758) 6,060 2,589 3,958 (11,849) —
— (2.,777) 3,554 359 — 1,136
(1,338) 3,283 2,593 4,317 (7,719) 1,136
— 4,130 — — (4,130) —
(1) (5,490) 1,438 (7,796) 11,849 —
2,093 (7,182) (2,606) 839 139 6,717)
2,092 (8,542) (1,168) (6,957) 7,858 (6,717)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
Primary The VIEs
Trip.com Beneficiaries and
Group Other of their Eliminating Consolidated
Limited Subsidiaries the VIEs Subsidiaries Adjustments Totals
(RMB in millions)
(742) (243) 2,189 1,271 — 2,475
— — (1,100) — 1,100 —
1,069 3,297 — (434) (3,932) —
— (1,713) (3,487) 1,052 — (4,148)
1,069 1,584 (4,587) 618 (2,832) (4,148)
7,984 — — — — 7,984
— 1,100 — — (1,100) —
— (635) 492 (3,789) 3,932 —
(8,300) (218) 2,230 2,223 — (4,065)
(316) 247 2,722 (1,566) 2,832 3,919
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Primary The VIEs
Trip.com Beneficiaries and
Group Other of their Eliminating Consolidated
Limited Subsidiaries the VIEs Subsidiaries Adjustments Totals
(RMB in millions)
Net cash used in operating activities() (1,037) (2,159) (30) (597) — (3,823)
Capital contribution to Group companies (903) (710) 47) — 1,660 —
Cash flows of loan funding provided to group companies, net of
repayments received (358) 3,808 — 817 (4,267) —
Other investing activities — (2,297) (1,056) (468) — (3,821)
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities® (1,261) 801 (1,103) 349 (2,607) 3,821)
Capital contribution from Group companies — 950 710 — (1,660) —
Cash flows of loan funding received from group companies, net
of repayments made — (459) (1,613) (2,195) 4,267 —
Other financing activities 2,284 1,251 40 2,450 — 6,025
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities(2) 2,284 1,742 (863) 255 2,607 6,025
Notes:

(1) For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, cash paid by the VIEs to the primary beneficiaries of the VIEs for service fees were RMB1.7 billion, RMB1.7 billion, and
RMB1.7 billion, respectively.

(2)  The net cash provided by investing activities and financing activities of the VIEs and their subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2020 have been revised from the amounts
previously disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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A. [Reserved]

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness

Not applicable.

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds

Not applicable.

D. Risk Factors

Summary of Risk Factors

An investment in our ADSs or ordinary shares involves significant risks. The operational and legal risks as well as the potential consequences
associated with being based in and having operations in mainland China as discussed in relevant risk factors under “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk
Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry” also apply to operations in Hong Kong and Macao. Below is a summary of material risks we
face, organized under relevant headings. These risks are discussed more fully in “Item 3. Key Information—D. Risk Factors.”

Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry

Pandemics (such as COVID-19), epidemics, or fear of spread of contagious diseases could disrupt the travel industry and our operations,
which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. For more details, see “Risk Factors
—Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry—Pandemics (such as COVID-19), epidemics, or fear of spread of contagious diseases
could disrupt the travel industry and our operations, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.”

Our business could suffer if we do not successfully manage our potential future growth, or if we are unable to execute our strategies
effectively. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry—Our business could suffer if we do not
successfully manage our potential future growth, or if we are unable to execute our strategies effectively.”

We sustained losses in the past and may experience earnings declines or net losses in the future. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks
Relating to Our Business and Industry—We sustained losses in the past and may experience earnings declines or net losses in the future.”

Our business is sensitive to global economic conditions. A severe or prolonged downturn in the global or Chinese economy may have a
material and adverse effect on our business, and may materially and adversely affect our growth and profitability. For more details, see
“Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry—Our business is sensitive to global economic conditions. A severe or
prolonged downturn in the global or Chinese economy may have a material and adverse effect on our business, and may materially and
adversely affect our growth and profitability.”
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General declines or disruptions in the travel industry may materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations. For more
details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry—General declines or disruptions in the travel industry may
materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.”

If we are unable to maintain existing relationships with ecosystem partners and strategic alliances, or unable to establish new arrangements
with ecosystem partners and strategic alliances at or on favorable terms or at terms similar to those we currently have, or at all, our
business, market share, and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks
Relating to Our Business and Industry—If we are unable to maintain existing relationships with ecosystem partners and strategic alliances,
or unable to establish new arrangements with ecosystem partners and strategic alliances at or on favorable terms or at terms similar to
those we currently have, or at all, our business, market share, and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.”

Strategic acquisition of complementary businesses and assets create significant challenges, such as dilutive effect on our equity securities
and impact on our financial performance, that may materially and adversely affect our business, reputation, results of operations, and
financial condition. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry—Strategic acquisition of
complementary businesses and assets create significant challenges, such as dilutive effect on our equity securities and impact on our
financial performance, that may materially and adversely affect our business, reputation, results of operations, and financial condition.”

Our strategy to invest in complementary businesses and assets and establish strategic alliances involves significant risk and uncertainties
that may have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition, and results of operations. For more details, see
“Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry— Our strategy to invest in complementary businesses and assets and
establish strategic alliances involves significant risk and uncertainties that may have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation,
financial condition, and results of operations.”

We incurred net current liabilities and net operating cash outflow in the past, and may not assure you that we will continue to achieve or
maintain net current assets or net operating cash inflow in the future. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business
and Industry—We incurred net current liabilities and net operating cash outflow in the past, and may not assure you that we will continue
to achieve or maintain net current assets or net operating cash inflow in the future.”

We recorded a significant amount of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets in connection with our strategic acquisitions and
investments, and we may incur material impairment charges to our goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets if the recoverability of
these assets become substantially reduced. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry—We
recorded a significant amount of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets in connection with our strategic acquisitions and
investments, and we may incur material impairment charges to our goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets if the recoverability of
these assets become substantially reduced.”

If we do not compete successfully against new and existing competitors, we may lose our market share, and our business may be
materially and adversely affected. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry—If we do not
compete successfully against new and existing competitors, we may lose our market share, and our business may be materially and
adversely affected.”
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Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure

PRC laws and regulations restrict foreign investment in the travel agency and value-added telecommunications businesses, and substantial
uncertainties exist with respect to the application and implementation of PRC laws and regulations. For more details, see “Risk Factors—
Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure—PRC laws and regulations restrict foreign investment in the travel agency and value-added
telecommunications businesses, and substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the application and implementation of PRC laws and
regulations.”

If the VIEs violate our contractual arrangements with them, our business could be disrupted, our reputation may be harmed and we may
have to resort to litigation to enforce our rights, which may be time-consuming and expensive. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks
Relating to Our Corporate Structure—If the VIEs violate our contractual arrangements with them, our business could be disrupted, our
reputation may be harmed and we may have to resort to litigation to enforce our rights, which may be time-consuming and expensive.”

The principal shareholders of the VIEs have potential conflict of interest with us, which may adversely affect our business. For more
details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure— The principal shareholders of the VIEs have potential conflict of
interest with us, which may adversely affect our business.”

Our business may be significantly affected by the PRC Foreign Investment Law. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to
Our Corporate Structure— Our business may be significantly affected by the PRC Foreign Investment Law.”

Risks Relating to Doing Business in China

Adverse changes in economic and political policies of the PRC government could have a material adverse effect on the overall economic
growth of China, which could adversely affect our business. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in
China—Adverse changes in economic and political policies of the PRC government could have a material adverse effect on the overall
economic growth of China, which could adversely affect our business.”

We conduct our business primarily in China. Our operations in China are governed by PRC laws and regulations. PRC government has
significant oversight and discretion over the conduct of our business, and may intervene or influence our operations as the government
deems appropriate to advance regulatory and societal goals and policy positions. The PRC government’s significant oversight and
discretion over our business operation could result in a material adverse change in our operations and the value of our ADSs and ordinary
shares. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—The PRC government’s significant oversight and
discretion over our business operation could result in a material adverse change in our operations and the value of our ADSs and ordinary
shares.”

The PCAOB had historically been unable to inspect our auditor in relation to their audit work performed for our financial statements and
the inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections of our auditor in the past has deprived our investors with the benefits of such
inspections. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—The PCAOB had historically been unable
to inspect our auditor in relation to their audit work performed for our financial statements and the inability of the PCAOB to conduct
inspections of our auditor in the past has deprived our investors with the benefits of such inspections.”

Our ADSs may be prohibited from trading in the United States under the HFCAA in the future if the PCAOB is unable to inspect or
investigate completely auditors located in China. The delisting of the ADSs, or the threat of their being delisted, may materially and
adversely affect the value of your investment. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China— Our
ADSs may be prohibited from trading in the United States under the HFCAA in the future if the PCAOB is unable to inspect or investigate
completely auditors located in China. The delisting of the ADSs, or the threat of their being delisted, may materially and adversely affect
the value of your investment.”
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The PRC government may exert more control over offerings conducted overseas and/or foreign investment in China-based issuers, which
could result in a material change in our operations and/or the value of our securities. Any actions by the PRC government to exert more
oversight and control over offshore offerings could significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer or continue to offer
securities to investors and cause the value of such securities to significantly decline or become worthless. The approval of and the filing
with the CSRC or other PRC government authorities may be required in connection with our offshore offerings in the future under PRC
law, and, if required, we cannot predict whether or for how long we will be able to obtain such approval or complete such filing. For more
details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—The approval of and the filing with the CSRC or other PRC
government authorities may be required in connection with our offshore offerings in the future under PRC law, and, if required, we cannot
predict whether or for how long we will be able to obtain such approval or complete such filing.”

The funds in our PRC subsidiaries or the VIEs in China may not be available to fund operations or for other use outside of China due to
interventions in or the imposition of restrictions and limitations on the ability of our holding company, our subsidiaries, or the VIEs by the
PRC government on currency conversion. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure—Our PRC
subsidiaries are subject to restrictions on paying dividends or making other payments to us while the VIEs can only make payments to us
in accordance with the contractual arrangements, which may restrict our ability to satisfy our liquidity requirements” and “Risk Factors—
Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—Restrictions on currency exchange may limit our ability to receive and use our revenues
effectively.”

Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could adversely affect us. Since the PRC legal system is still evolving, certain laws and
regulations in China may evolve quickly with little advance notice, and the interpretations of many laws, regulations and rules and
enforcement of these laws, regulations and rules may involve uncertainties. For more details, see “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Doing
Business in China—Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could adversely affect us.”

General Risks Relating to Our Ordinary Shares and ADSs

The trading prices of our listed securities have been and are likely to continue to be volatile, which could result in substantial losses to our
investors. For more details, see “Risk Factors—General Risks Relating to Our Ordinary Shares and ADSs—The trading prices of our listed
securities have been and are likely to continue to be volatile, which could result in substantial losses to our investors.”

We adopt different practices as to certain matters as compared with many other companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. For
more details, see “Risk Factors—General Risks Relating to Our Ordinary Shares and ADSs—We adopt different practices as to certain
matters as compared with many other companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.”

Substantial future sales or perceived potential sales of our ordinary shares, ADSs or other equity securities in the public market could cause
the prices of our listed securities to decline. For more details, see “Risk Factors—General Risks Relating to Our Ordinary Shares and
ADSs—Substantial future sales or perceived potential sales of our ordinary shares, ADSs or other equity securities in the public market
could cause the prices of our listed securities to decline.”
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Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry

Pandemics (such as COVID-19), epidemics, or fear of spread of contagious diseases could disrupt the travel industry and our operations, which
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Global pandemics, epidemics in China or elsewhere in the world, or fear of spread of contagious diseases, such as Ebola virus disease (EVD),
coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS), severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS), HIN1 flu, H7NO flu,
and avian flu could disrupt the travel industry and our business operations in China and elsewhere in the world, reduce or restrict demand for travel and
travel-related products and services, or result in regional or global economic distress, which may materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operations. Any one or more of these events or recurrence may adversely affect our sales results, or even for a prolonged period
of time, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The COVID-19 pandemic had already adversely affected many aspects of our business. Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, we had
experienced a significant decline in travel demand resulting in significant user cancelations and refund requests and reduced new orders relating to
international and domestic travel and lodging. The supply of domestic transportation tickets and international air tickets were also adversely and
significantly affected in response to comprehensive containment measures in China and other international regions. We have actively assisted our users
in their cancelation and refund requests and have been working with our ecosystem partners to prepare for difficult market conditions, for which we
have incurred and may continue to incur significant cash outflows. Our ecosystem partners’ abilities to timely deliver products and services and respond
to rescheduling or cancelation requests have been adversely affected for similar reasons, especially those located in critical regions in China. In response
to the COVID-19 pandemic, we swiftly adopted cost control measures to mitigate a significant slowdown in user demand.

Our revenues in the past few years were materially and adversely affected as a result of the outbreak and resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic.
We also incurred significant incremental costs and expenses in the past few years to facilitate our users’ cancelations and refund requests, as compared to
the period prior to the outbreak of COVID-19. In addition, we made provisions for the expected difficulty in collection of receivables, which resulted in
additional allowance for expected credit losses from the receivables due from our customers. Moreover, we made significant downward adjustments and
impairment to our long-term investments as a result of COVID-19 related impacts.

Starting in December 2022, most of the travel restrictions and quarantine requirements in China were lifted. Although there were significant
surges of COVID-19 infections in various regions in China during that month, the situation has been significantly improved and normalized since
January 2023. There remains uncertainty as to the future impact of the virus. The extent to which the pandemic affects our results of operations going
forward will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and unpredictable, including the frequency, duration and extent of outbreaks of
COVID-19, the appearance of new variants with different characteristics, the effectiveness of efforts to contain or treat cases, and future actions that
may be taken in response to these developments. China may experience lower domestic consumption, higher unemployment, severe disruptions to
exporting of goods to other countries and greater economic uncertainty, which may materially and adversely affect our business. There can be no
assurance as to whether the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting disruption to our business will extend over a prolonged period, and if yes, it could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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We have seen a slower recovery of the inbound and outbound travel and, in turn, a slower recovery of our inbound and outbound travel agency
business. We have noted Chinese travelers shifting their preferences towards emerging demand for short-haul travel, local trips, and domestic boutique
and premium accommodation experiences. We have introduced novel products in order to capture these emerging trends and have proactively leveraged
our live streaming function to promote local attractions and activities. However, we cannot assure you that these initiatives will be effective as expected,
or that we will be able to act promptly to cater to the travelers’ emerging traveling preferences in the future. We will continue to monitor and evaluate
the financial impacts on our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows in future periods. In the event of prolonged impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on our financial condition and cash flows, we cannot assure you that additional financing will be available to us on reasonable
terms, or at all, should we require it. The global spread of COVID-19 pandemic in a significant number of countries around the world, such as the
United States, has resulted in, and may intensify, global economic distress, and the extent to which it may affect our financial condition, results of
operations, and cash flows will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. In addition, the recent financial
turmoil leading to vitality in the financial and securities markets, especially since the COVID-19 pandemic, has generally made access to capital less
certain and increased the cost of obtaining new capital. As we manage through the slowdown in our business due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we cannot
assure you that additional financing will be available to us on reasonable terms, or at all.

Consequently, any COVID-19 resurgence may continue to materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations in the current and future years. In addition, any future outbreak of contagious diseases or similar adverse public health developments, extreme
unexpected bad weather, or severe natural disasters would affect our business and operating results. Ongoing concerns regarding contagious disease or
natural disasters, particularly its effect on travel, could adversely affect our users’ desire to travel. If there is a recurrence of an outbreak of certain
contagious diseases or natural disasters, travel to and from affected regions could be curtailed. Public policy regarding, or governmental restrictions on,
travel to and from these and other regions on account of an outbreak of any contagious disease or occurrence of natural disasters could materially and
adversely affect our business and operating results.

Our business could suffer if we do not successfully manage our potential future growth, or if we are unable to execute our strategies effectively.

Our business has grown significantly as a result of both organic growth of existing operations and acquisitions, and, despite the COVID-19
pandemic, we may experience such growth from time to time in the future. We have significantly expanded, and may further expand, our operations and
workforce, as a result of the growth of our service offerings, user base, and geographic coverage. For example, we have invested in, and may continue to
invest in, organic growth by rolling out new business initiatives focusing on a diverse range of areas including expanding our one-stop travel offerings
and upgrading our content capabilities. For the year ended December 31, 2022, we invested RMBS.3 billion (US$1.2 billion) in product development. If
such new business initiatives fail to perform as expected, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. Our growth to
date has placed, and our anticipated future operations will continue to place, significant strain on our management, systems, and resources. In addition to
training and managing our workforce, we will need to continue to improve and develop our financial and managerial controls and our reporting systems
and procedures. We cannot assure you that we will be able to efficiently or effectively manage the growth of our operations, and any failure to do so may
limit our future growth and hamper our business strategy.

We are growing our global presence through a combination of owned brands, direct investments as well as strategic partnerships. As we continue
to increase our product and service offerings, we will further upgrade our content capabilities and deliver more appealing content in new and diversified
formats, including live streaming, to improve user engagement. In addition, we will continue to invest in Al and cloud technologies, and further enhance
our technology and cloud infrastructure. All these efforts will require significant managerial, financial, and human resources. We cannot assure you that
we will be able to effectively manage our growth or to execute all these strategies successfully or that our new business initiatives will be successful. If
we are not able to manage our growth or execute our strategies effectively, our expansion may not be successful and our business and prospects may be
materially and adversely affected.
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We sustained losses in the past and may experience earnings declines or net losses in the future.

We sustained net losses in the past. Due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in recent years, we recorded net loss of RMB3.3 billion and
RMB645 million in 2020 and 2021, respectively. Although we swiftly adopted cost control measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and
managed to generate net income of RMB1.4 billion (US$201 million) in 2022, we cannot assure you that we can sustain profitability or avoid net losses
in the future. Our operating expenses may still increase in the future and the degree of increase in these expenses is largely based on anticipated growth,
revenue trends, and competitive pressure. As a result, any decrease or delay in generating additional sales volume and revenues and increase in our
operating expenses may result in substantial operating losses. Moreover, consolidation of Qunar’s financial statements starting from December 31, 2015
had negatively impacted our financial statements previously, which may happen again in the future.

Our business is sensitive to global economic conditions. A severe or prolonged downturn in the global or Chinese economy may have a material and
adverse effect on our business, and may materially and adversely affect our growth and profitability.

The COVID-19 pandemic may continue to have a severe and negative impact on the Chinese and the global economy. Even before the outbreak of
the COVID-19, the global macroeconomic environment was facing numerous challenges. The growth rate of the Chinese economy had already been
slowing since 2010. There is considerable uncertainty over the long-term effects of the expansionary monetary and fiscal policies which had been
adopted by the central banks and financial authorities of some of the world’s leading economies, including the United States and China. The conflict in
Ukraine and the imposition of broad economic sanctions on Russia could raise energy prices and disrupt global markets. Unrest, terrorist threats, and the
potential for war in the Middle East and elsewhere may increase market volatility across the globe. There have also been concerns about the relationship
between China and certain other countries, including the surrounding Asian countries, which may potentially have economic effects. In particular, there
is significant uncertainty about the future relationship between the United States and China with respect to trade policies, treaties, government
regulations, and tariffs. Economic conditions in China are sensitive to global economic conditions, as well as changes in domestic economic and
political policies and the expected or perceived overall economic growth rate in China. Any severe or prolonged slowdown in the global or Chinese
economy may materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our business and operations are primarily based in China and most of our revenues are derived from our operations in China. Accordingly, our
financial results have been, and are expected to continue to be, affected by the economy and travel industry in China. Since we derive the majority of our
revenues from accommodation reservation, transportation ticketing, and packaged-tour and in-destination activity services in China, any severe or
prolonged slowdown in the global or Chinese economy or the recurrence of any financial disruptions could reduce expenditures for travel, which in turn
may adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition in a number of ways. For example, the weakness in the economy could erode
consumer confidence which, in turn, could result in changes to consumer spending patterns relating to travel products and services. If consumer demand
for travel products and services we offer decreases, our revenues may decline. Furthermore, continued turbulence in the international markets may
adversely affect our ability to access the capital markets to meet liquidity needs.

General declines or disruptions in the travel industry may materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our business is significantly affected by the trends that occur in the travel industry in China and globally, including the accommodation
reservation, transportation ticketing, and packaged-tour and in-destination activity sectors. As the travel industry is highly sensitive to business and
personal discretionary spending levels, it tends to decline during general economic downturns. The recent worldwide recession has led to a weakening in
the demand for travel services. Other trends or events that tend to reduce travel and are likely to reduce our revenues include:

. actual or threatened war or terrorist activities;
. the COVID-19 pandemic;
. an outbreak of EVD, MERS, SARS, HIN1 flu, H7N9 flu, and avian flu, or any other serious contagious diseases;
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. increasing prices in the hotel, transportation ticketing, or other travel-related sectors;

. increasing occurrence of travel-related accidents;
. political unrest, civil strife, or other geopolitical uncertainty;
. natural disasters or poor weather conditions, such as hurricanes, earthquakes, or tsunamis, as well as the physical effects of climate change,

which may include more frequent or severe storms, flooding, rising sea levels, water shortage, droughts, and wildfires; and

. any travel restrictions in China and elsewhere in the world, such as entry restrictions related to the COVID-19 pandemic and quarantine
measures or other security procedures implemented in connection with any major events in China and elsewhere in the world.

We could be severely and adversely affected by declines or disruptions in the travel industry and, in many cases, have little or no control over the
occurrence of such events. Such events could result in a decrease in demand for our travel and travel-related products and services. This decrease in
demand, depending on the scope and duration, could significantly and adversely affect our business and financial performance over the short and long
term. For a discussion of impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, see “—Pandemics (such as COVID- 19), epidemics, or fear of spread of
contagious diseases could disrupt the travel industry and our operations, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition,
and results of operations” and “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — A. Operating Results—Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on
Our Operations and Financial Performance.”

If we are unable to maintain existing relationships with ecosystem partners and strategic alliances, or unable to establish new arrangements with
ecosystem partners and strategic alliances at or on favorable terms or at terms similar to those we currently have, or at all, our business, market
share, and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

We rely on ecosystem partners, such as hotels and airlines, and other third party agents to make their services available to users through us, and
our business prospects depend on our ability to maintain and expand relationships with ecosystem partners and other third party agents. If we are unable
to maintain satisfactory relationships with our existing ecosystem partners, or if our ecosystem partners establish similar or more favorable relationships
with our competitors, or if our ecosystem partners increase their competition with us through their direct sales, or if any one or more of our ecosystem
partners significantly reduce participation in our services for a sustained period of time or completely withdraw participation in our services, our
business, market share, and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. To the extent any of those major or popular ecosystem
partners cease to participate in our services in favor of one of our competitors’ systems or decide to require consumers to purchase services directly from
them, our business, market share, and results of operations may suffer.

Our business depends significantly upon our ability to contract with hotels in advance for the guaranteed availability of certain hotel rooms. We
rely on hotel partners to provide us with rooms at discounted prices. However, our contracts with our hotel partners are not exclusive and most of the
contracts must be renewed from time to time. We cannot assure you that our hotel partners will renew our contracts in the future on favorable terms or
terms similar to those we have agreed to. The hotel partners may reduce the commission rates on bookings made through us. Furthermore, in order to
maintain and grow our business and to effectively compete with many of our competitors in all potential markets, we will need to establish new
arrangements with hotels and accommodations of all ratings and categories in our existing markets and in new markets. We cannot assure you that we
will be able to identify appropriate hotels or enter into arrangements with those hotels on favorable terms, if at all. Such failure could harm the growth of
our business and adversely affect our operating results and financial condition, which consequently will impact the trading price of our ADSs and
ordinary shares.

We derive revenues and other significant benefits from our arrangements with major domestic airlines in China and international airlines. Our
airline ticket partners allow us to book and sell tickets on their behalf and collect commissions on tickets booked and sold through us. Although we
currently have supply relationships with these airlines, they also compete with us for ticket bookings and have entered into similar arrangements with
many of our competitors and may continue to do so in the future. Such arrangements may be on better terms than we have. On July 1, 2016, the four
largest airlines in China announced that third-party ticketing agents are prohibited from selling tickets for domestic flights on third-party platforms, such
as ours. Additionally, on July 1, 2016, most major domestic airlines also replaced their commissions and rebate incentives completely with a reduced,
fixed “admin fee” per ticket. The loss of ecosystem partner relationships or further adverse changes in major business terms with our ecosystem partners
would materially impair our operating results and financial condition as we would lose an increasingly significant source of our revenues.
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We generated part of our revenues through commissions from ecosystem partners that we form strategic alliances with, including our hotel
partners, airline ticket partners and other ecosystem partners. We cannot assure you, however, that we will be able to successfully establish and maintain
strategic alliances with third parties which are effective and beneficial for our business. Our inability to do so could have a material adverse effect on our
market penetration, revenue growth and profitability.

Strategic acquisition of complementary businesses and assets create significant challenges, such as dilutive effect on our equity securities and
impact on our financial performance, that may materially and adversely affect our business, reputation, results of operations, and financial
condition.

We have made and intend to continue to make strategic acquisitions in the travel industry in Greater China and overseas. By way of example, see
“Item 4. Information on the Company — B. Business Overview — Strategic Investments and Acquisitions” for material strategic investments and
acquisitions that we pursued in recent years. If we are presented with appropriate opportunities, we may continue to acquire complementary businesses
and assets in the future. However, strategic acquisitions and the subsequent integration of new businesses and assets into our own would require
significant attention from our management and could result in a diversion of resources from our existing business, which in turn could adversely affect
our business operations. In addition, acquisitions could result in potential dilutive issuances of equity securities, use of substantial amounts of cash, and
exposure to potential ongoing financial obligations and unforeseen or hidden liabilities of the acquired business. The cost and duration of, and
difficulties in, integrating newly acquired businesses and managing a larger overall business could also materially exceed our expectations. Moreover,
we may not be able to achieve our intended strategies and may result in substantial impairment charges to goodwill, if we fail to successfully integrate
the newly acquired business or manage a larger business. Any such negative developments could materially and adversely affect our business,
reputation, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our strategy to invest in complementary businesses and assets and establish strategic alliances involves significant risk and uncertainties that may
have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition, and results of operations.

As part of our plan to expand our product and service offerings, we have made and intend to make strategic investments in the travel service
industries in Greater China and overseas. In addition to our transactions relating to Qunar and Skyscanner described elsewhere in this annual report, we
also pursued various opportunities for investments and acquisitions. For a discussion of our material investments and acquisitions made in recent years,
see “Item 4. Information on the Company — B. Business Overview — Strategic Investments and Acquisitions.”
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If the ADS or share prices of the public companies that we have invested in or may invest in the future which are classified as equity securities
with readily determinable fair values investments decline and become lower than our share purchase prices, as have happened historically, we could
record changes in fair value recorded in the income statement under U.S. GAAP, which in turn would adversely affect our financial results for the
relevant periods. In addition, if any of our investees in which our investments are classified as equity method investments incur net losses in the future,
we will share their net losses proportionate to our equity interest in them.

Our strategic investments could also subject us to other uncertainties and risks, and our failure to address any of these uncertainties and risks,
among others, may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations:

. diversion of our resources and management attention;

. high acquisition and financing costs;

. failure to achieve our intended objectives or benefits in making these investments or revenue-enhancing opportunities;

. exposure to liabilities, third-party claims, or legal proceedings involving our invested or acquired business;

. potential claims or litigation regarding our board’s exercise of its duty of care and other duties required under applicable law in connection

with any of our significant investments approved by the board; and

. failure to be in full compliance with applicable laws, rules, and regulations.

In particular, our strategy of investing in a competing business could be adversely affected by uncertainties in the implementation and enforcement
of the PRC Anti-Monopoly Law. Under the PRC Anti-Monopoly Law, companies undertaking mergers, acquisitions, or other transactions that may be
deemed as concentrations in China must notify the anti-monopoly law enforcement authority of the PRC State Council, which currently is the State
Administration for Market Regulation, or the SAMR, in advance of any transaction where the parties’ revenues in the China market and global market
exceed certain thresholds and the buyer would obtain control of, or decisive influence over, the target. There are numerous factors the anti-monopoly
law enforcement authority considers in determining “concentrations,” depending on certain criteria, the anti-monopoly law enforcement authority will
conduct anti-monopoly review of transactions in respect of which it was notified, including (1) merger of undertakings; (2) acquisition of control over
other undertakings by an undertaking by acquiring equities or assets; or (3) acquisition of control over, or the possibility of exercising decisive influence
on, other undertakings by an undertaking by contract or by any other means. In light of the uncertainties relating to the interpretation, implementation,
and enforcement of the PRC Anti-Monopoly Law, we cannot assure you that the anti-monopoly law enforcement authority will not deem our past and
future acquisitions or investments, including the ones referenced herein or elsewhere in this annual report, to have met the filing criteria under the PRC
Anti-Monopoly Law and therefore demand a filing for merger review. Before the Anti-Monopoly Commission of the State Council issued the Anti-
Monopoly Guidelines for the Internet Platform Economy Sector, or the Anti-Monopoly Guidelines, on February 7, 2021 that clarifies for the first time
the filing procedures is applicable to the concentrations involving variable interest structure, there had been limited cases of the anti-monopoly law
enforcement authority’s anti-monopoly review of filings involving companies with a “variable interest entity” structure, or VIE structure, similar to ours.
On June 24, 2022, the Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress, or the SCNPC, adopted an amendment to the PRC Anti-Monopoly Law,
which introduced a “safe harbor” for vertical monopoly agreements entered into by operators whose market share falls below a specific threshold to be
set by the SAMR, granted the SAMR the power to suspend the review period in merger investigations under specified circumstances, allowed public
prosecutors to bring a civil public interest lawsuit based on monopolistic behaviors, and significantly increased the penalties for violation of PRC Anti-
Monopoly Law, among others. This amendment emphasized the enforcement of PRC Anti-Monopoly Law in the internet and other key industries. The
strengthened enforcement of the PRC Anti-Monopoly Law could result in investigations on our acquisition transactions conducted in the past and make
our acquisition transactions in the future more difficult due to the prior filing requirement. Our strategic investments, including our historical
transactions such as our acquisition of shares of Qunar in 2015 and any transactions to be contemplated in the future, have been and may continue to be
subject to relevant PRC regulatory authorities’ scrutiny from anti-monopoly perspective from time to time. There can be no assurance as to whether the
relevant PRC regulatory authorities will impose any penalties or other restrictive measures on us or any relevant parties for our strategic investments. If
we are deemed to have carried out a concentration of undertakings in violation of the PRC Anti-Monopoly Law, we could be subject to restrictive
measures including an order to cease the relevant activities, a fine of up to 10% of our sales revenue from the previous year where such concentration
has or may have the effect of excluding or restricting competition, or a fine of up to RMBS5,000,000 where such concentration does not have the effect of
excluding or restricting competition, and the parts of the transaction causing the prohibited concentration could be ordered to be unwound. Such
unwinding could affect our business and financial results, and harm our reputation. Further, substantial uncertainties remain as to whether our current
business cooperation arrangements with Qunar would be deemed as violation to the PRC Anti-Monopoly Law in any material aspects, which will be
subject to the discretion of the relevant governmental authority.
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In addition, we establish strategic alliances with various third parties to further our business purpose from time to time. Strategic alliances with
third parties could subject us to a number of risks, including risks associated with sharing proprietary information, non-performance by the counter-
party, an increase in expenses incurred in establishing new strategic alliances, inefficiencies caused by failure to integrate strategic partners’ businesses
with our own, and unforeseen levels of diversion of our resources and management attention, any of which may materially and adversely affect our
business.

As a result of any of the above factors, any actual or perceived failure to realize the benefits we expect from these investments may materially and
adversely affect our business and financial results and cause the trading price of our ADSs and ordinary shares to decline.

We incurred net current liabilities and net operating cash outflow in the past, and may not assure you that we will continue to achieve or maintain
net current assets or net operating cash inflow in the future.

Even though we had net current assets of RMB196 million (US$28 million) as of December 31, 2022, we had net current liabilities of
RMB110 million as of December 31, 2021 and net current liabilities of RMB358 million as of December 31, 2020. There can be no assurance that we
will not experience liquidity problems in the future. We may not be able to fulfill our obligation in providing travel products or services to our users in
respect of advances from customers, the failure of which may negatively affect our cash flow position. If we fail to generate sufficient revenue from our
operations, or if we fail to maintain sufficient cash and financing, we may not have sufficient cash flows to fund our business, operations, and capital
expenditure, and our business and financial position will be adversely affected.

We had net cash provided by operating activities of RMB2.6 billion (US$380 million) in 2022. While we believe that we have sufficient working
capital to fund our current operations, we cannot guarantee that we will not experience cash outflow from our operating activities in the future. If we are
unable to maintain adequate working capital, we may default on our payment obligations and may not be able to meet our capital expenditure
requirements, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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We recorded a significant amount of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets in connection with our strategic acquisitions and investments,
and we may incur material impairment charges to our goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets if the recoverability of these assets become
substantially reduced.

In connection with our strategic acquisitions over the recent years, we recorded a significant amount of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible
assets booked in our financial statements. As of December 31, 2022, our goodwill was RMB59.3 billion (US$8.6 billion). ASC 350 “Intangibles—
Goodwill and Other” provides that intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives and goodwill will not be amortized but rather will be tested at least
annually for impairment. ASC 350 also requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable from its undiscounted future cash flow. We operate our business with a single reporting unit.
We performed qualitative assessment by reviewing relevant events and circumstances, including macroeconomics conditions, industry and market
considerations, our overall financial performance and the share price, and concluded by weighing all these factors in their entirety to determine whether
it is necessary to perform the quantitative impairment test. For 2020, 2021, and 2022, we did not recognize any impairment charges for goodwill or
indefinite lived intangible assets, because there was no indicator of impairment identified in our qualitative assessment. If different judgments or
estimates had been utilized, however, material differences could have resulted in the amount and timing of the impairment charge. We may potentially
incur significant impairment charges if the recoverability of these assets become substantially reduced in the future. Any such impairment charges would
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, in the case that the trading price of our ADSs or ordinary shares declines as
a result of the potentially prolonged impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic or other factors, and the amount by which the share price exceeds the
carrying value of the reporting unit becomes minimal, it may be considered an indicator for us to perform interim goodwill impairment test and we may
need to recognize impairment on goodwill or other long-lived assets. See “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — A. Operating
Results— Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates— Goodwill, Intangible Assets, and Long-Lived Assets.”

If we do not compete successfully against new and existing competitors, we may lose our market share, and our business may be materially and
adversely affected.

We compete primarily with other travel agencies, including domestic and foreign consolidators of hotel accommodation and airline tickets as well
as traditional travel agencies. In the future, we may also face increasing competition from new domestic travel agencies or international players that seek
to expand in China, hotels and airlines, as well as content platforms and social networks entering into the travel industry.

We may face more competition from hotels and airlines as they enter the discount rate market directly or through alliances with other travel
consolidators. In addition, international travelers have become an increasingly important user base. Competitors that have formed stronger strategic
alliances with overseas travel consolidators may have more effective channels to address the needs of travelers in China to travel overseas. Furthermore,
we do not have exclusive arrangements with our ecosystem partners. The combination of these factors means that potential entrants to our industry face
relatively low entry barriers.

In the past, certain competitors launched aggressive advertising campaigns, special promotions and engaged in other marketing activities to
promote their brands, acquire new users, or increase their market shares. In response to such competitive pressure, we started to take and may continue
to take similar measures and as a result will incur significant expenses, which in turn could negatively affect our operating margins in the quarters or
years when such promotional activities are carried out. For example, we launched a promotion program in recent years to offer certain selected
transportation tickets, hotel rooms, packaged tours, and in-destination activities as well as grant of e-coupons to our users in response to promotion
campaigns that our competitors have launched. Primarily as a result of the enhanced marketing efforts and additional investment in product
developments in response to the intensified market competition, our operational margin was negatively affected. In addition, some of our existing and
potential competitors may have competitive advantages, such as significantly larger active user base on mobile or other online platforms, greater
financial, marketing and strategic relationships, alliances or other resources or name recognition and technology capabilities, and may be able to imitate
and adopt our business model. In particular, other major internet platforms may benefit from the existing user base of their other services. These
platforms can utilize the traffic they already obtain and direct the users from their other services offerings to their travel services and further achieve
synergies effects. Furthermore, in order to attract and retain users and compete against our competitors, we have deployed significant resources in
research and development to enhance our Al and cloud technologies. However, we cannot assure you that the effectiveness of our data analytics
capabilities and technologies will be comparable or superior to our competitors continuously. If any of our competitors provides comparable or better
content feed to the users on their platforms, or if we are unable to provide sufficient quality content to our users’ satisfaction leveraging our data
analytics capabilities, we may suffer a decline in our user traffic. We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully compete against new or
existing competitors. In the event we are not able to compete successfully, our business, results of operations, and profit margins may be materially and
adversely affected.
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If we fail to further increase our brand recognition, we may face difficulty in maintaining existing and acquiring new users and business partners
and our business may be harmed.

We believe that maintaining and enhancing our brands depends in part on our ability to grow our user base and obtain new business partners.
Some of our potential competitors already have well-established brands in the travel industry. The successful promotion of our brands will depend
largely on our ability to maintain a sizeable and active user base, maintain relationships with our business partners, provide high-quality user support,
properly address user needs and handle user complaints, and organize effective marketing and advertising programs. We are also subject to reputational
risks arising from user complaints. Users may raise complaints against us if they are dissatisfied with the travel products and services provided to them.
If we do not resolve the complaints effectively in a timely manner, our users may reduce their use of our platform and services, and may demand refund
or even further compensation from us by all practicable means, which could harm our reputation and brand image if these complaints are brought to
public sight, and materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. If our user base significantly declines or
grows more slowly than our key competitors, the quality of our user support substantially deteriorates, or our business partners cease to do business with
us, we may not be able to cost-effectively maintain and promote our brands, and our business may be harmed.

Negative publicity related to us or in general with respect to the travel industry could impair our reputation, which in turn could materially and
adversely affect our business, results of operations, and price of our ADSs or ordinary shares.

The reputation of our brands is critical to our business and competitiveness. Negative publicity with respect to us or the travel industry in general,
from time to time, whether or not we are at fault, including but not limited to those relating to our business, products and services, user experiences,
employee relationships and welfare, compliance with law, financial conditions or prospects, whether with or without merit, could impair our reputation
and adversely affect our business and operating results. Prospective users may be reluctant to engage in transactions with us if there is any negative
publicity in connection with the use of our services or products, the operation of our business, and other aspects about us. In addition, the negative
publicity of any of our brands may extend far beyond the brand involved, especially due to our comprehensive presences in the travel industry in
general, to affect some or all of our other brands. Furthermore, negative publicity about other market players or isolated incidents, regardless of whether
or not it is factually correct or whether we have engaged in any inappropriate activities, may result in negative perception of our industry as a whole and
undermine the credibility we have established. Negative developments in the market may lead to tightened regulatory scrutiny and limit the scope of our
permissible business activities. We could lose significant number of users due to negative publicity with respect to us or the travel industry in general.

We rely on performance and brand marketing channels to generate a significant amount of traffic to our platforms and grow our business. From
time to time, we hire brand ambassadors to market our brands or our products and services that are important to our business. However, we cannot
assure you that the endorsement from our brand ambassadors or related advertisements will remain effective, that the brand ambassadors will remain
popular or their images will remain positive and compatible with the messages that our brand and products aim to convey. Furthermore, we cannot
assure you that we can successfully find suitable celebrities to replace any of our existing brand ambassadors if any of their popularities decline or if the
existing brand ambassadors are no longer able or suitable to continue the engagement, and termination of such engagements may have a significant
impact on our brand images and the promotion or sales of our products.

If any of the foregoing were to occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and price of our ADSs or ordinary shares could be
materially and adversely affected. We may incur additional costs to recover from the impact caused by the negative publicity, which may divert
management’s attention and other resources from our business and operations.
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Our quarterly results are likely to fluctuate because of seasonality in the travel industry.

Our business experiences fluctuations, reflecting seasonal variations in demand for travel services. Consequently, our results of operations may
fluctuate from quarter to quarter. For example, the third quarter of each year generally contributes the highest portion of our annual net revenues
primarily due to the strong demand for both leisure and business travel activities during the summer.

Any failure to maintain satisfactory performance of our mobile platform, websites, and systems, particularly those leading to disruptions in our
services, could materially and adversely affect our business and reputation, and our business may be harmed if our infrastructure or technology is
damaged or otherwise fails or becomes obsolete.

The satisfactory performance, reliability, and availability of our infrastructure, including our mobile platform, websites, and systems, are critical to
the success of our business. Any system interruptions that result in the unavailability or slowdown of our mobile platform, websites, or other systems
and the disruption in our services could reduce the volume of our business and make us less attractive to users. Our customer service centers are
equipped with extensive computer and communications systems. Our technology platform and computer and communication systems are vulnerable to
damage or interruption from human error, computer viruses, fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications failure, physical or electronic break-ins,
hacking or other attempts at system sabotage, vandalism, natural disasters, and other similar events. For example, we experienced a network shut-down
for a few hours in May 2015 resulting in temporary disruption to our mobile platform and websites and user support, and a hotel booking system failure
for a few hours in October 2019 temporarily affecting hotel booking services. No data leakage occurred in either incident. We have implemented
extensive measures to ensure prompt responses to any network shutdown, system failure, or similar incidents in the future, and to continue to update our
security protocol to protect our systems from any human error, third-party intrusions, viruses or hacker attacks, information or data theft, or other similar
activities. Other than the incidents mentioned above, we did not experience any material cybersecurity incident up to the date of this annual report.
However, we cannot assure you that unexpected interruptions to our systems will not occur again in the future. We do not carry business interruption
insurance to compensate us for losses that may occur as a result of such disruptions. In addition, any such future occurrences could reduce user
satisfaction levels, damage our reputation and materially and adversely affect our business.

We use an internally developed booking software system that supports nearly all aspects of our booking transactions. Our business may be harmed
if we are unable to upgrade our systems and infrastructure quickly enough to accommodate future traffic levels, avoid obsolescence or successfully
integrate any newly developed or purchased technology with our existing system. Capacity constraints could cause unanticipated system disruptions,
slower response times, poor user support, impaired quality and speed of reservations and confirmations, and delays in reporting accurate financial and
operating information. These factors could cause us to lose users and ecosystem partners, which would have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations and financial condition.

In addition, our future success will depend on our ability to adapt our products and services to the changes in technologies and internet user
behavior. For example, the number of people accessing the internet through mobile devices, including smart devices, mobile phones, tablets, and other
hand-held devices, has increased in recent years, and we expect this trend to continue while 5G and more advanced mobile communications
technologies are broadly implemented. As we make our services available across a variety of mobile operating systems and devices, we are dependent
on the interoperability of our services with popular mobile devices and mobile operating systems that we do not control, such as Android, iOS, and
Windows. We ensure the interoperability of our services by optimizing our mobile apps and websites for different devices and operating systems and
implementing cloud technology to support unified backend operation of our platform. Any changes in such mobile operating systems or devices that
degrade the functionality of our services or give preferential treatment to competitive services could adversely affect usage of our services. Further, if
the number of platforms for which we develop our services increases, which is typically seen in a dynamic and fragmented mobile services market such
as China, it will result in an increase in our costs and expenses. In order to deliver high-quality services, it is important that our services work well
across a range of mobile operating systems, networks, mobile devices, and standards that we do not control. If we fail to develop products and
technologies that are compatible with all mobile devices and operating systems, or if the products and services we develop are not widely accepted and
used by users of various mobile devices and operating systems, we may not be able to penetrate the mobile internet market. In addition, the widespread
adoption of new internet technologies or other technological changes could require significant expenditures to modify or integrate our products or
services. If we fail to keep up with these changes to remain competitive, our future success may be adversely affected.
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Our business depends substantially on the continuing efforts of our key executives, and our business may be severely disrupted if we lose their
services.

Our future success depends heavily upon the continued services of our key executives. We rely on their expertise in business operations, finance,
and travel services and on their relationships with our ecosystem partners and shareholders. If one or more of our key executives are unable or unwilling
to continue in their present positions, we may not be able to easily replace them. In that case, our business may be severely disrupted, we may incur
additional expenses to recruit and train personnel and our financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, if any of these key executives joins a competitor or forms a competing company, we may lose users and ecosystem partners. Each of
our executive officers has entered into a service contract with us that contains confidentiality and non-competition provisions. If any disputes arise
between our executive officers and us, we cannot assure you of the extent to which any of these agreements would be enforced in China, where most of
these executive officers reside and hold most of their assets, in light of the uncertainties with China’s legal system. See “—Risks Relating to Doing
Business in China—Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could adversely affect us.”

If we are unable to attract, train and retain key individuals and highly skilled employees, our business may be adversely affected.

If our business continues to expand, we will need to hire additional employees, including ecosystem partner management personnel to maintain
and expand our ecosystem partner network, information technology and engineering personnel to maintain and expand our mobile platform, websites,
customer service centers and systems, and customer service representatives to serve an increasing number of users. If we are unable to identify, attract,
hire, train and retain sufficient employees in these areas, users of our mobile platform, websites and customer service centers may not have satisfactory
experiences and may turn to our competitors, which may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our business is subject to the risks of international operations, including but not limited to, operational risk, compliance risk, and reputational risk.

We had overseas expansion of our business over the years and operate our business in many foreign jurisdictions such as European and southeast
Asian countries. As we plan to expand our global presence over the long-term through means of partnerships and investments, we are exposed to a
variety of risks in our business operations, including but not limited to, operational risk, compliance risk, and reputational risk. Compliance with foreign
laws and regulations that apply to our international operations increases our cost of doing business in foreign jurisdictions. These laws and regulations
include data privacy requirements, labor relations laws, tax laws, foreign currency-related regulations, anti-competition regulations, prohibitions on
payments to governmental officials, market access, import, export and general trade regulations, including but not limited to economic sanctions and
embargos. Violations of these laws and regulations could result in fines and penalties, criminal sanctions against us, our officers or our employees, and
prohibitions on the conduct of our business, including the loss of trade privileges. Any such violations could result in prohibitions on our ability to offer
our products and services in one or more countries, could delay or prevent potential acquisitions, and could also materially damage our reputation, our
brand, our international expansion efforts, our ability to attract and retain employees, our business and our operating results. Compliance with these laws
requires a significant amount of management attention and effort, which may divert management’s attention from running our business operations and
could harm our ability to grow our business, or may increase our expenses as we engage specialized or other additional resources to assist us with our
compliance efforts. Our success depends, in part, on our ability to anticipate these risks and manage these difficulties. We monitor our operations and
investigate allegations of improprieties relating to transactions and the way in which such transactions are recorded. Where circumstances warrant, we
provide information and report our findings to government authorities, but no assurance can be given that action will not be taken by such authorities. In
addition, as our business and operation expand in international markets, we could be exposed to increased foreign exchange risks for other currencies.
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The current tensions in international trade and rising political tensions, particularly between the United States and China, may adversely impact our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

There have been heightened tensions in international economic relations in recent years, such as the one between the United States and China. The
U.S. government has imposed, and may continue to impose additional, new, or higher tariffs on certain products imported from China to penalize China
for what it characterizes as unfair trade practices. China has responded by imposing, and proposing to impose additional, new, or higher tariffs on certain
products imported from the United States. Following mutual retaliatory actions for months, on January 15, 2020, the United States and China entered
into the Economic and Trade Agreement Between the United States of America and the People’s Republic of China as a phase one trade deal, effective
on February 14, 2020.

In addition, political tensions between the United States and China have escalated due to, among other things, trade disputes and the COVID-19
pandemic. In addition to the historical events, the relationships between the United States and China continued to be subject to uncertainties. For
example, in 2022, tensions flared over Nancy Pelosi’s visit to Taiwan, which led China to suspend U.S.-China climate talks, cut off some high-level
military communication channels, sanction Pelosi and other actions. Furthermore, the U.S. Air Force shot down a balloon off the southeastern U.S.
coast, claiming that the balloon was spying on sensitive military sites. China responded that the balloon was a civilian weather-monitoring craft that
accidentally veered into U.S. air space. Furthermore, the U.S. Department of Commerce also placed sweeping restrictions in October 2022 on exports of
U.S.-made advanced computing chips and related equipment to China, claiming that China is using these items to produce advanced military system and
commit human rights abuses. As we work with a wide range of business partners in China and elsewhere in the world, should any of our major business
partners become subject to sanctions or restrictions by the U.S. government, our business may be adversely affected.

Rising political tensions could reduce levels of trades, investments, technological exchanges, and other economic activities between the two major
economies, which would materially and adversely affect the global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets. Such tensions
between the United States and China, and any escalation thereof, potentially as a result of the conflict in Ukraine and sanctions on Russia, may have a
negative impact on the general, economic, political, and social conditions in China and, in turn, adversely impacting our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.

We may not be able to prevent others from using our intellectual property, which may harm our business and expose us to litigation.

We regard our domain names, trade names, trademarks, patents, proprietary know-how, and similar intellectual properties as critical to our
success. We try to protect our intellectual property rights by relying on intellectual property protection laws, confidentiality laws, and confidentiality
contracts. However, the provisions of such laws and contracts may not provide us with sufficient protection, and legal proceedings to protect our
intellectual properties from infringement could be difficult, time-consuming, and expensive in China. In addition, as our business operations
further evolve globally, we may not be able to enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world, which may in turn adversely impact our
international operations and business. We may encounter significant problems in protecting and enforcing intellectual property rights in certain foreign
jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries do not favor the enforcement of intellectual property protection, which could make it difficult for us
to stop the infringement or misappropriation of our intellectual property rights. Proceedings to enforce our proprietary rights in foreign jurisdictions
could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business.

The steps we have taken may be inadequate to prevent the misappropriation of our proprietary technology. Any misappropriation could have a
negative effect on our business and operating results. Furthermore, we may need to go to court to enforce our intellectual property rights. Litigation
relating to our intellectual property might result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management attention. See “—Risks Relating to
Doing Business in China—Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could adversely affect us.”
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We rely on services from third parties to certain extent to carry out our business and to deliver our products to users, and if there is any interruption
or deterioration in the quality of these services, our users may not continue using our services.

We partially rely on third-party computer systems to host our websites, as well as third-party licenses for some of the software underlying our
technology platform. In addition, we rely on third-party transportation ticketing agencies to issue transportation tickets and travel insurance products,
confirmations and deliveries in some cities in Greater China. We also rely on third-party local operators to deliver on-site services to our packaged-tour
and in-destination activity users and other services, such as car services.

Any interruption in our ability to obtain the products or services of these or other third parties or deterioration in their performance, such as server
errors or interruptions, or dishonest business conduct, could impair the timing and quality of our own service. If our service providers fail to provide
high-quality services in a timely manner to our users, or provide services that are substantially different from its description or without licenses or
permits as required by the relevant laws and regulations despite that we have so requested, violate any applicable rules and regulations, or involve in
incidents of negative publicity, our services will not meet the expectations of our users, our users may claim against us for damages and stop using our
online platforms, and our reputation and brand will be damaged. Furthermore, if our arrangement with any of these third parties is terminated, we may
not find an alternative source of support on a timely basis or on favorable terms to us.

We may be the subject of detrimental conduct by third parties, including complaints to regulatory agencies, negative blog postings, and the public
dissemination of malicious assessments of our business, which could have a negative impact on our reputation and cause us to lose market share,
ecosystem partners, users and revenues, and adversely affect the price of our ADSs or ordinary shares.

We may be the target of anti-competitive, harassing, or other detrimental conduct by third parties. Such conduct may include complaints,
anonymous or otherwise, to regulatory agencies regarding our operations, accounting, revenues, business relationships, business prospects, and business
ethics. Additionally, allegations, directly or indirectly against us, may be posted in internet chat-rooms or on blogs or any websites by anyone, whether
or not related to us, on an anonymous basis. We may be subject to government or regulatory investigation as a result of such third-party conduct and
may be required to spend significant time and incur substantial costs to address such third-party conduct, and we cannot assure you that we will be able
to conclusively refute each of the allegations within a reasonable period of time, or at all. Our reputation may also be negatively affected as a result of
the public dissemination of anonymous allegations or malicious statements about our business, which in turn may cause us to lose market share,
ecosystem partners, users, and revenues and adversely affect the price of our ADSs or ordinary shares.

We are subject to payment processing risk.

We accept a variety of different online payment methods and rely on third parties to process such payment. Acceptance and processing of these
payment methods are subject to certain rules and regulations and require payment of interchange and other fees. To the extent there are increases in
payment processing fees, material changes in the payment ecosystem, such as delays in receiving payments from payment processors or changes to rules
or regulations concerning payment processing, our revenues, operating expenses, and results of operation could be adversely impacted.

We also do not have control over the security measures of our third-party payment service providers, and security breaches of the online payment
systems that we use could expose us to litigation and possible liability for failing to secure confidential user information and could, among other things,
damage our reputation and the perceived security of all of the online payment systems that we use. If a well-publicized internet security breach were to
occur, users concerned about the security of their online payments may become reluctant to purchase our products and services through payment service
providers even if the publicized breach did not involve payment systems or methods used by us. We may also be subject to fraud and other illegal
activities in connection with the various payment methods that we offer, including online payment options. We may also be subject to various rules,
regulations, and requirements, regulatory or otherwise, governing electronic fund transfers and online payment, which could change or be reinterpreted
to make it difficult or impossible for us to comply with. If we fail to comply with these rules or requirements, we may be subject to fines and higher
transaction fees, and lose our ability to accept credit and debit card payments from our users, process electronic fund transfers, or facilitate other types of
online payments. If any of the above were to occur and damage our reputation or the perceived security of the payment systems that we use, we may
lose users as they may be discouraged from purchasing products or services on our platform, which may adversely affect our business and results of
operations.
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If our hotel partners or users provide us with untrue information regarding the users’ stay or misrepresentations, we may not be able to recognize
and collect revenues to which we are entitled.

We generate substantially all of our accommodation reservation revenue through commissions from hotel reservation partners through our
platform. To confirm whether a user adheres to the booked itinerary, we routinely make inquiries with the hotel and, occasionally, with the user. We rely
on the hotel partner and the user to provide us truthful information regarding the user’s check-in and check-out dates, which forms the basis for
calculating the commission we are entitled to receive from the hotel partner. If our hotel partners or users provide us with untrue information with
respect to our users’ length of stay at the hotels, we would not be able to collect revenues to which we are entitled. In addition, using such untrue
information may lead to inaccurate business projections and plans, which may adversely affect our business planning and strategy.

We may suffer losses if we are unable to predict the amount of inventory we will need to purchase during the peak holiday seasons.

During the peak holiday seasons in China, we establish limited merchant business relationships with selected ecosystem partners, in order to
secure adequate supplies for our users. In merchant business relationships, we buy hotel rooms and transportation tickets before selling them to our users
and thereby incur inventory risk. If we are unable to correctly predict demand for hotel rooms and transportation tickets that we are committed to
purchase, we would be responsible for covering the cost of the hotel rooms and transportation tickets we are unable to sell, and our financial condition
and results of operations would be adversely affected.

If tax benefits available to our subsidiaries in China are reduced or repealed, our results of operations could suffer.

Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, as amended, or the EIT Law, and the relevant implementation rules, foreign-invested enterprises, or
FIEs, and domestic enterprises are subject to EIT at a uniform rate of 25%. Certain enterprises will benefit from a preferential tax rate of 15% under the
EIT Law if they qualify as “high and new technology enterprises,” or HNTEs, or if they are located in applicable PRC regions, subject to certain general
restrictions described in the EIT Law and the related regulations.

In December 2008 and 2009, some of our PRC subsidiaries, Ctrip Computer Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., or Ctrip Computer Technology,
Ctrip Travel Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., or Ctrip Travel Information, Ctrip Travel Network Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., or Ctrip
Travel Network, Beijing Qunar Software Technology Co., Ltd., or Qunar Software, and one of the VIEs, Beijing Qu Na Information Technology Co.,
Ltd., or Qunar Beijing (VIE), were each recognized by relevant local authorities as a HNTE under the EIT Law with an effective period of three years.
Therefore, these entities are entitled to enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15%, as long as they maintain their qualifications for HNTEs that are subject to
verification by competent authorities and renewals every three years. The qualifications of Ctrip Computer Technology, Ctrip Travel Information, and
Ctrip Travel Network as HNTEs expired by the end of 2022. These entities plan to apply for the renewal of their qualifications in 2023. The
qualifications of Qunar Software and Qunar Beijing (VIE) as HNTEs have been renewed and will expire by the end of 2023. Beijing Hujinxinrong
Technology Co., Ltd, or Beijing Hujinxinrong, is also a HNTE entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2019 to 2021. Its qualification has
been renewed in 2022, entitling it to enjoy a preferential tax rate from 2022 to 2024. In addition, Ctrip Business Travel Information Service (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd., or Ctrip Business Travel, and Shanghai Xielv Information Technology Co., Ltd., or Shanghai Xielv Information, were designated by relevant
local authorities in Shanghai as HNTEs for the first time in 2021 and are entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% until 2023. The HNTE
qualification is subject to a periodic review every three years by the relevant PRC government authorities. Preferential tax treatment granted to our
subsidiaries by the local governmental authorities is subject to this periodic review and may be adjusted or revoked at any time. We cannot assure you
that our subsidiaries and the VIEs will continue to qualify as HNTEs when they are subject to reevaluation in the future. In 2001, the STA, the PRC
Ministry of Finance, or the MOF, and the General Administration of Customs jointly issued the Circular on Issues Concerning Preferential Tax Policies
for the Western Development, or the Circular 202, and started to implement preferential tax policy in China’s western region. According to the Circular
202, from 2001 to 2010, the companies located in applicable jurisdictions covered by this circular are eligible to apply for a preferential income tax rate
of 15% if their businesses fall within the “encouraged” category of the Catalog of Industries, Products and Technologies Currently Encouraged to
Develop by the State or the Catalog for Guidance of Industries for Foreign Investment and the revenue derived from such “encouraged” businesses
accounts for no less than 70% of the total revenue. In 2011, the STA, the MOF, and the General Administration of Customs jointly issued the Circular on
Issues Concerning Tax Policies for In-depth Implementation of Western Development Strategies, or the Circular 58, according to which the Catalog of
Encouraged Industries in Western Regions, or the Western Regions Catalog, would be applied instead of the two catalogs stipulated in the Circular 202
from 2011 to 2020. According to the Western Regions Catalog issued by the PRC National Development and Reform Commission, or the NDRC, later
in 2014, the “encouraged” industries include the industries provided in the Guiding Catalog of Industrial Structure Adjustment, the Catalog for Guidance
of Industries for Foreign Investment, the Catalog of Advantageous Industries for Foreign Investment in the Central and Western Regions, and other
encouraged catalogs specifically applied in western regions. On April 23, 2020, the MOF, the STA, and the NDRC jointly issued the Announcement on
Renewing the Enterprise Income Tax Policy for Western Development, which reduced the revenue percentage requirement of the “encouraged”
businesses to no less than 60% and would be applied from 2021 to 2030. Benefiting from this policy, Chengdu Ctrip (VIE), Chengdu Ctrip International,
and Chengdu Ctrip Information Technology Co., Ltd., or Chengdu Information, obtained approval from local authorities in 2012 and 2013, which
recognized that the main businesses of such three companies belong to the “encouraged” catalog of the Guiding Catalog of Industrial Structure
Adjustment. Therefore, such entities were entitled to enjoy a preferential tax rate of 15% until 2030, as long as their “encouraged” businesses accounts
for no less than required percentage pursuant to current policies. In the event that the preferential tax treatment for these entities is discontinued, these
entities will become subject to the standard tax rate at 25%, which would materially increase our tax obligations.
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We may be subject to legal or administrative proceedings regarding information provided on our online portals or other aspects of our business
operations, which may be time-consuming to defend.

Our online portals contain information about hotels, transportation, popular vacation destinations, and other travel-related topics posted by us as
well as third parties. It is possible that if any information accessible on our online portals contains errors or false or misleading information, third parties
could take actions against us for losses incurred in connection with the use of such information. From time to time, we have become and may in the
future become a party to various legal or administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business, including actions with respect to
breach of contract claims, intellectual property infringement, anti-competition claims, claims relating to our online ride-hailing services, advertising
services and pricing information we provided, and other matters. Although such proceedings are inherently uncertain and their results cannot be
predicted with certainty, we believe that the resolution of our current pending matters will not have a material adverse effect on our business,
consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flow. Regardless of the outcome and merit of such proceedings, any legal action can have
an adverse impact on us because of defense costs, negative publicity, diversion of management’s attention, and other factors. In addition, it is possible
that an unfavorable resolution of one or more legal or administrative proceedings, whether in China or in another jurisdiction, could materially and
adversely affect our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows in a particular period or damage our reputation.

We could be liable for breaches of internet security or fraudulent transactions by users of our online platforms and our websites.

Internet industry is facing significant challenges regarding information security and privacy, including the storage, transmission and sharing of
confidential information. In recent years, PRC government authorities have enacted legislation on internet use to protect personal information from any
unauthorized disclosure. In November 2016, the SCNPC promulgated the PRC Cyber Security Law, which came into effect on June 1, 2017. The PRC
Cyber Security Law requires that a network operator, which includes, among others, internet information services providers, to take technical measures
and other necessary measures in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and the compulsory requirements of the national and industrial
standards to safeguard the safe and stable operation of its networks, imposing a relatively vague but broad obligation to provide technical support and
assistance to the public and state security authorities in connection with criminal investigations or for reasons of national security. The law further
requires internet information service providers to formulate contingency plans for network security incidents, report to the competent departments
immediately upon the occurrence of any incident endangering cyber security, and take corresponding remedial measures. Any violation of the PRC
Cyber Security Law may subject us to warnings, fines, confiscation of illegal gains, revocation of licenses, cancelation of filings, shutdown of websites,
or criminal liabilities. See “Item 4. Information on the Company—B. Business Overview—PRC Government Regulations—Regulations Related to
Internet Information Security and Privacy Protection.”
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We conduct a significant portion of our transactions through the internet, including our online platforms and websites. In such transactions,
secured transmission of confidential information (such as users’ itineraries, hotel and other reservation information, credit card information, personal
information, and billing addresses) over public networks and ensuring the confidentiality, integrity, availability, and authenticity of the information of
our users, hotel partners, and airline partners are essential to maintaining their confidence in our online products and services. Our current security
measures may not be adequate and may contain deficiencies that we fail to identify, and advances in technology, increased levels of expertise of hackers,
new discoveries in the field of cryptography or others could increase our vulnerability. For example, a third-party website that focuses on internet
security information exchange released news in March 2014 that as a result of a temporary testing function performed by us, certain data files containing
users’ credit card information had been stored on local servers maintained by us, which may lead to potential exposure of these users’ information to
hackers. We removed the cause of the potential security concern within two hours of the release of the news report and then examined all other possible
leaks and found that 93 users’ credit card information might have been downloaded by the above-mentioned website for the purpose of confirming
potential risks. Our business, results of operations, user experience, and reputation may be materially and adversely affected if similar incidents related
to internet security recur in the future. In August 2011, the PRC Supreme People’s Court and the PRC Supreme People’s Procuratorate issued judicial
interpretations regarding hacking and other internet crimes. However, its effect on curbing hacking and other illegal online activities still remains to be
seen.

We strive to comply with applicable data protection laws and regulations, as well as our privacy policies pursuant to our terms of use and other
obligations that we may have with respect to privacy and data protection. Significant capital, managerial, and human resources are required to enhance
information security and to address any issues caused by security failures. If we are unable to protect our systems and the information stored in our
systems from unauthorized access, use, disclosure, disruption, modification, or destruction, such problems or security breaches may cause loss, expose
us to litigation and possible liability to the owners of confidential information, disrupt our operations and may harm our reputation, and ability to attract
users.

The PRC government regulates the air-ticketing, travel agency, internet industries, and certain other industries we operate in. If we fail to obtain or
maintain all pertinent permits and approvals or if the PRC government imposes more restrictions on these industries, our business may be adversely
affected.

The PRC government regulates the air-ticketing, travel agency, internet industries, and certain other industries we operate in. We are required to
obtain applicable permits or approvals from different regulatory authorities to conduct our business, including separate licenses for value-added
telecommunications, travel agency, and internet-related activities. If we fail to obtain or maintain any of the required permits or approvals in the future,
we may be subject to various penalties, such as fines or suspension of operations in these regulated businesses, which could severely disrupt our
business operations. As a result, our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

In particular, the Civil Aviation Administration of China and the NDRC regulate pricing of air tickets. The Civil Aviation Administration also
supervises commissions payable to air-ticketing agencies together with the China Air Transport Association. If restrictive policies are adopted by the
Civil Aviation Administration, NDRC, or the China Air Transport Association, or any of their regional branches, our air-ticketing revenue may be
adversely affected.

In addition, the PRC government may promulgate new laws and regulations, interpretation of existing laws and regulations, as well as regulatory
guidance and policies. We may not be able to always keep abreast of these developments, and we could be subject to regulatory or administrative
penalties and operational disruption if we are unable to comply with these laws, regulations, and policies in a timely fashion, or at all. For example, the
SCNPC promulgated the PRC E-Commerce Law on August 31, 2018, which came into effect on January 1, 2019. Pursuant to the PRC E-Commerce
Law, an e-commerce platform operator must take joint liabilities with the relevant merchants operating on its platform and may be subject to warnings
and fines where it fails to take necessary measures when (i) it knows or should have known that the products or services provided by the merchants
operating on its platform do not meet the personal or property safety requirements or such merchants’ other acts may infringe on the lawful rights and
interests of the consumers; or (ii) it has been informed that the merchants operating on its platform infringe any intellectual property rights of any other
third party but has not taken measures in time. In addition, with respect to products or services affecting the consumers’ life and health, if an
e-commerce platform operator fails to examine and verify the merchants’ qualification, or it fails to assure the consumers’ security, which results in
damages to consumers, it must take corresponding liabilities and may be subject to warnings and fines. Furthermore, pursuant to a Tentative
Administrative Measure on Online Travel Operation promulgated on August 20, 2020 by the PRC Ministry of Culture and Tourism and came into effect
on October 1, 2020, the operator of online travel business, like us, must provide real and accurate travel services information without false promotion
and advertisement. The operator of online travel platform must verify the identification, license, quality standard, credit rating, and other information of
all travel business operator registered on the platform. The online travel business operator must protect the personal data privacy of travelers and cannot
set unfair trading conditions based on consumption record and preference by abusing data analyzing technology. The platform operator must also alert
the travelers for safety warning, and must take the liability if it fails to perform relevant obligations requested by such administrative measures.
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Furthermore, we provide online consumer finance services incidental to our core businesses. Due to the relatively short history of China’s online
consumer finance industry, the PRC government is still in the process of establishing a comprehensive regulatory framework governing this industry.
The relevant rules and regulations governing this industry are general in nature and yet to be further interpreted or supplemented. As a result, we cannot
assure you that we will be able to obtain all permissions and approvals necessary for providing our online consumer finance services. In addition, we
may have to make significant changes to our operations from time to time in order to comply with changing laws, regulations, and policies governing
the online and travel industries in general and many aspects of our business in particular, which may increase our cost of operation or limit our options
of service offering, which in turn may adversely affect our results of operations.

Our failure to comply with privacy and data protection laws and regulations in various jurisdictions could subject us to sanctions, damages, and
litigation, and could harm our reputation and business.

We collect and process certain personal data of our users, including email addresses, usage data, identification information, user passwords, and
additional information. We also collect and process user billing information, such as credit card numbers, full names, billing addresses (when user uses
an overseas bank card, based on the requirements of the payment institutions), and phone numbers of our users.

We are subject to the privacy and data protection laws and regulations in various jurisdictions, such as China and the European Union. Privacy
laws provide restrictions and guidance in connection with our storage, use, processing, disclosure, transfer, and protection of personal information. We
strive to comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and policies relating to privacy and data protection. We are also subject to privacy and data
security-related obligations deriving from our privacy policy and terms of use with our users, and we may be liable to third parties in the event we are
deemed to have wrongfully processed, used, stored, disclosed, or otherwise disposed of personal data.

Data security and protection has become one of the policy focuses of PRC regulators. The PRC regulatory and enforcement regime in this regard
is relatively new and rapidly evolving. Therefore, substantial uncertainties remain with respect to the interpretation and enforcement of the relevant
regulations and their impact to us, which makes it difficult to determine what actions or inactions may be deemed to be in violation of the applicable
laws and regulations in certain circumstances.

The PRC Data Security Law came into effect in September 2021 and established a tiered system for data protection based on level of importance.
Since September 2021, the CAC and other relevant government authorities promulgated and proposed a series of laws, regulations, and draft legislations
relating to information protection and data security, including but not limited to, the Guidance on Strengthening the Comprehensive Governance of
Internet Information Service Algorithms, the Administrative Provisions on Internet Information Service Algorithm-Based Recommendation, and the
Administrative Measures on Network Data Security (Draft for Comment). Among these regulations, the Administrative Measures on Network Data
Security (Draft for Comment) published by the CAC in November 2021 stipulates that data processing entities should apply for cybersecurity review in
the event that, among others, its listing in Hong Kong has or could have influence on national security. As of the date of this annual report, the
regulatory parameters for determining “have or could have influence on national security” as stipulated in the Administrative Measures on Network Data
Security (Draft for Comment) remain unclear and are subject to further explanation and elaboration by the CAC. Substantial uncertainties remain with
respect to the enactment timetable, final content, interpretation, and implementation, especially the detailed interpretation of the standard for
determining whether a listing in Hong Kong “has or could have influence on national security.” As of the date of this annual report, the Administrative
Measures on Network Data Security (Draft for Comment) has not become effective yet, and no application channel or detailed procedures are in place
for the implementation of the cybersecurity review as stipulated therein.

41



In July 2022, the CAC promulgated the Security Assessment Measures for Data Outbound Transfer, which came into effect on September 1, 2022.
These measures outline the requirements and procedures for security assessments on export of important data or personal information collected or
generated within the territory of China. Furthermore, these measures provide that the security assessment must combine pre-assessment and continuous
supervision, and risk self-assessment and security assessment to prevent data export security risks. Specifically, security assessment is required before
any data can be transferred out of China if: (i) the data transferred out of China is important data; (ii) the data processor is a critical information
infrastructure operator or data processor that processes personal information of more than one million individuals; (iii) data processor who transfer
personal information out of China has made outbound transfer of aggregately more than 100,000 individuals’ personal information or more than 10,000
individuals’ sensitive personal information since January 1 of the previous year; or (iv) otherwise required by the CAC.

In September 2022, the CAC promulgated the Decision to Amend the Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China (Draft for
Comments), which mainly involves amendments in the following aspects: (i) improving the legal liability mechanism for violating the general
provisions of network operation security, (ii) modifying the legal liability mechanism for security protection of critical information infrastructure,
(iii) adjusting the legal liability mechanism for network information security, and (iv) revising the legal liability mechanism for personal information
protection. In December 2022, the MIIT promulgated the Administrative Measures on Data Security in the Field of Industry and Information
Technology (Trial), according to which the data processors in the field of industry and information technology have to sort out their data regularly,
identify important data and core data in accordance with relevant standards and specifications, formulate their specific catalogs, and must file their
important data and core data catalogs with the local industry supervision departments for records.

The Personal Information Protection Law came into effect in November 2021, which integrates a variety of rules with respect to personal
information rights and privacy protection and applies to the processing of personal information within mainland China and certain personal information
processing activities outside mainland China, including those for the provision of products and services to natural persons within China or for the
analysis and assessment of acts of natural persons within China. Furthermore, in December 2021, the CAC and several other authorities jointly
promulgated the amended Cybersecurity Review Measures, which came into effect in February 2022. Pursuant to the Cybersecurity Review Measures,
where the relevant activity affects or may affect national security, a critical information infrastructure operator, or a CIIO, that purchases network
products and services, or an internet platform operator that conducts data process activities, must be subject to the cybersecurity review. The
Cybersecurity Review Measures also expands the cybersecurity review requirement to cover “internet platform operators” in possession of personal
information of over one million users if such operators intend to pursue a foreign listing. Additionally, relevant PRC government authorities may initiate
cybersecurity review if they determine an internet platform operator’s network products or services or data processing activities affect or may affect
national security. According to the Regulations on the Security Protection of Critical Information Infrastructure which came into effect in September
2021, the CIIO has to perform certain obligations to protect the critical information infrastructure’s security, including but not limited to, conducting
network security test and risk assessment at least once a year. The security protection departments are responsible for organizing the identification of
critical information infrastructure in their respective industries and areas in accordance with the identification rules, and must inform the identification
results to the operators in a timely manner and report such results to the public security department of the State Council.
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Nevertheless, PRC government authorities have wide discretion in the interpretation and enforcement of these laws. As a major internet platform,
we are exposed to risks of being deemed to be a CIIO or a network platform operator meeting the above criteria under the PRC cybersecurity laws. If we
are identified as a CIIO, we would be required to fulfill various obligations as required under PRC cybersecurity laws and other applicable laws for
CIIOs that are currently not applicable to us, including, among others, setting up a special security management organization, organizing regular
cybersecurity education and training, formulating emergency plans for cyber security incidents, and conducting regular emergency drills. Moreover,
although the internet products and services that we purchase are primarily bandwidth, servers, and marketing services, we may need to follow
cybersecurity review procedure and apply with Cybersecurity Review Office before making certain purchases of network products and services. During
cybersecurity review, we may be required to suspend the provision of any existing or new services to our users, and we may experience other disruptions
to our operations, which could cause us to lose users and therefore leading to adverse impacts on our business. The cybersecurity review could also lead
to negative publicity and a diversion of time and attention of our management and our other resources. It could be costly and time-consuming for us to
prepare application materials and make the applications. Furthermore, we cannot assure you that we will obtain the clearance or approval for these
applications from the Cybersecurity Review Office and the relevant government authorities in a timely manner, or at all. If we are found to be in
violation of cybersecurity requirements in China, the relevant government authorities may, at their discretion, conduct investigations, levy fines, request
app stores to take down our apps, and cease to provide viewing and downloading services related to our apps, prohibit the registration of new users on
our platform, or require us to change our business practices in a manner materially adverse to our business. Any of these actions may disrupt our
operations and materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

As we are operating website and mobile applications and providing certain internet services, we are also subject to other applicable PRC laws and
regulations in relation to internet information security and privacy protection, see “Item 4. Information of the Company—B. Business Overview—PRC
Government Regulations—Regulations Related to Internet Information Security and Privacy Protection” for details of these laws and regulations.

The European Union traditionally takes a broader view as to what is considered personal information and has imposed greater obligations under
their privacy and data protection laws. In particular, the European Union adopted a new General Data Protection Regulation in April 2016, which came
into effect in May 2018. The General Data Protection Regulation results in more stringent requirements for data processors and controllers, including
more fulsome disclosures about the processing of personal information, data retention limits, and deletion requirements, mandatory notification in the
case of a data breach, and elevated standards regarding valid consent in some specific cases of data processing. The General Data Protection Regulation
also includes substantially higher penalties for failure to comply with the requirements. For example, in the event of violations, a fine up to €20 million
or up to 4% of the annual worldwide turnover, whichever is greater, may be imposed. In addition to General Data Protection Regulation, when other
future laws and regulations relating to data privacy in China or other jurisdictions come into effect, the more stringent requirements on privacy user
notifications and data handling will require us to adapt our business and incur additional costs.

In addition, to the extent we have accessed data in Hong Kong and Macao, we have been in compliance with relevant laws and regulations in both
jurisdictions regarding data security, such as the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance, which impose
protocols and obligations regarding the handling of personal data in Hong Kong including, among other things, that (i) personal data must be collected
for a lawful purpose, necessary, and not excessive, (i) personal data must be collected by means that are lawful and fair in the circumstances of the case,
and (iii) the person from whom personal data is collected is informed of the purpose of collecting the data. As of the date of this annual report, we
believe that these laws and regulations in Hong Kong and Macao regarding data security do not, nor would any non-compliance therewith, if any, have
any material adverse impact on our business. However, if certain laws and regulations in Hong Kong or Macao were to result in oversight over data
security that materially impacts our business in the applicable jurisdiction, we may be required to incur additional cost to ensure our compliance with
such laws and regulations, and any violation could result in a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Privacy and data protection concerns are becoming more widely acknowledged and may cause our users to resist providing the personal data
necessary to allow them to use our platform effectively. We have implemented multiple measures and security protocols to maintain and improve our
privacy protection capability. However, since the relevant laws and regulations are relatively new, there are uncertainties as to the interpretation and
application of these laws and regulations, and it is possible that our privacy and data protection practices are or will be incompliant with the applicable
regulatory requirements and/or our terms of use with our users. Any violation of the provisions and requirements under these laws, regulations,
obligations or our terms of use with our users may subject us to warnings, fines, confiscation of illegal gains, revocation of licenses, suspension of
business, shutting down of websites or even criminal liabilities. Complying with such requirements could cause us to incur substantial expenses or to
alter or change our practice in a manner that could harm our business. Any systems failure or security breach or lapse that results in the unauthorized
release of our user data could harm our reputation and brand and, consequently, our business, in addition to exposing us to potential legal liability.
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We have incurred substantial indebtedness and may incur additional indebtedness in the future. We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to
satisfy our outstanding and future debt obligations.

We have incurred substantial indebtedness to execute our business operations and strategies. To the extent that we were to settle or redeem our
convertible notes or exchangeable senior notes in cash, our debt obligations would become more substantial.

Our substantial indebtedness could have important consequences to you. For example, it could:
. increase our vulnerability to adverse general economic and industry conditions;

. require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to servicing and repaying our indebtedness, thereby reducing
the availability of our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes; and

. limit, along with the financial and other restrictive covenants of our indebtedness, among other things, our ability to conduct additional
financing activities, or increase the cost of additional financing.

We may from time to time incur additional indebtedness and contingent liabilities. If we incur additional debt, the risks that we face as a result of
our substantial indebtedness and leverage could intensify. For example, since 2018, we entered into asset backed securitization arrangements with third-
party financial institution and set up a securitization vehicle, which issued revolving debt securities to third-party investors. In 2020, 2021, and 2022, we
also obtained loan facilities from certain financial institutions. In July 2020, we issued US$500 million in aggregate principal amount of 1.50%
exchangeable senior notes due 2027.

Our ability to generate sufficient cash to satisfy our outstanding and future debt obligations will depend upon our future operating performance,
which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions and financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. As a result,
we may not generate or obtain sufficient cash flow to meet our anticipated operating expenses and to service our debt obligation as they become due.

We may face greater risk of doubtful accounts as our business increases in scale.

We provide credit terms to certain ecosystem partners, and also extend credit to our users by making payments on behalf of them when they book
travel products on our platform. Our accounts receivable and other receivables have increased as our business grows. We cannot assure you that we will
be able to collect payment fully and in a timely manner on our outstanding receivables from our ecosystem partners and users. As a result, we may face
a greater risk of non-payment of our receivables and, as our business grows in scale, we may need to make higher allowance for credit losses. For the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022, we provided provisions for credit losses of RMB700 million, RMB141 million, and RMB296 million,
respectively. The higher provisions for credit losses recognized in 2020 was primarily due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Our operating
results and financial condition may be materially and adversely affected if we are unable to successfully manage our receivables.

Our accounting treatment for share-based compensation could continue to significantly reduce our net income.

We have accounted for share-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718 “Compensation — Stock Compensation,” or ASC 718, which
requires a public company to recognize, as an expense, the fair value of share options and other share-based compensation to employees based on the
requisite service period of the share-based awards. We have granted share-based compensation awards, including share options and restricted share
units, to employees, officers, and directors to incentivize performance and align their interests with ours. See “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management
and Employees— B. Compensation—Employees’ Share Incentive Plans.” As a result of the grants and potential future grants under our share incentive
plans, we had incurred in the past and expect to continue to incur in future periods significant share-based compensation expenses. The amount of these
expenses is based on the fair value of the share-based awards.
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Our board of directors has the discretion to change terms of any previously issued share options and any such change may significantly increase
the amount of our share-based compensation expenses for the period that the change takes effect as well as those for any future periods. For example, in
December 2019, we completed a one-time modification of share options, pursuant to which eligible employees were able to exchange every four share
options previously granted under the 2007 Share Incentive Plan or the Amended and Restated Global Incentive Plan for one new option that entitles
each eligible grantee to purchase one ordinary share, provided that the eligible options previously granted (and subject to exchange) each had an
exercise price exceeding US$40 per ordinary share. The exercise price of each new option is US$0.00125 per ordinary share and the vesting schedules
remaining unchanged. As a result of the modification, the prior options to purchase 6,686,792 ordinary shares were exchanged for new options to
purchase 1,672,208 ordinary shares. In addition, with the historic changes and extensions to our share incentive awards, the application of ASC 718 will
continue to have a significant impact on our net income. Further, future changes to various assumptions used to determine the fair value of awards
issued or the amount and type of equity awards granted may also create uncertainty as to the amount of future share-based compensation expense.

The determination of the fair value changes of certain financial assets requires significant management judgment and estimation based on
unobservable inputs, which may lead to valuation uncertainty and a change in the fair value of our long-term investments.

As of December 31, 2022, we had investments of RMB2.6 billion (US$377 million) classified under Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, or the
Level 3 Investments. The fair values of the Level 3 Investments were determined by us based on an income approach utilizing various unobservable
inputs which required significant judgment, determined by us, with respect to the assumptions and estimates for the revenue growth rate, weighted
average cost of capital, lack of marketability discounts, expected volatility, and probability in equity allocation. Accordingly, such determination requires
us to make estimates and assumptions, which may be subject to material changes, and therefore inherently involves a certain degree of uncertainty.
Factors beyond our control, such as general economic condition, changes in market interest rates, and stability of the capital markets, can significantly
influence and cause adverse changes to the estimates we used and thereby affect the fair value of the level 3 Investments. Should any of the estimates
and assumptions changed, there may be a change in the fair value of our financial assets, which would materially and adversely affect our results of
operation and financial condition.

For further details, see “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects — A. Operating Results—Ceritical Accounting Policies and
Estimates—TFair value of Available-for-sale Debt Investments.”

Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could result in errors in our published financial statements, which in turn
could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our ADS’s or ordinary shares.

We are subject to the reporting obligations under the U.S. securities laws. As required under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the
SEC has adopted rules requiring public companies to include a report of management on the effectiveness of such companies’ internal control over
financial reporting in its annual report. In addition, an independent registered public accounting firm for a public company must issue an attestation
report on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting and concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2022. In
addition, our independent registered public accounting firm attested the effectiveness of our internal control and reported that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2022. If we fail to maintain the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, we
may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act. Moreover, effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to produce reliable financial reports. As a result, any failure to
maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could result in the loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements,
which in turn could negatively impact the trading price of our ADSs or ordinary shares. Furthermore, we may need to incur additional costs and use
additional management and other resources in an effort to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other requirements going forward.
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We may need additional capital and we may not be able to obtain it.

We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, cash flow from operations and proceeds from our financing
activities will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for the foreseeable future. We may, however, require additional cash resources due to
changed business conditions or other future developments, including any investments or acquisitions we may decide to pursue. If these resources are
insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain a credit facility. The sale of additional
equity securities could result in additional dilution to our shareholders. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased debt service obligations
and could result in operating and financing covenants that would restrict our operations. We cannot assure you that financing will be available in
amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

In addition, the terms of future debt financing could result in more restrictive covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. If we
cannot raise additional funds when we need them, our ability to continue to support our business and to respond to business challenges would be
significantly limited, and our business, results of operations, and financial condition would be materially and adversely affected.

Fluctuation of fair value change of short-term investments we made may affect our results of operations.

Historically, we made short-term investments, representing (i) held-to-maturity investments which are due in one year and stated at amortized
cost; (ii) the investments issued by commercial banks or other financial institutions with a variable interest rate indexed to the performance of
underlying assets within one year measured at fair value; and (iii) foreign currency forward contracts measured at fair value which are short-term.
Changes in the fair value are reflected in our consolidated statements of income/(loss) and comprehensive income/(loss). The methodologies that we use
to assess the fair value of the short-term investments involve a significant degree of management judgment and are inherently uncertain. In addition, we
are exposed to credit risks in relation to our short-term investments, which may adversely affect the net changes in their fair value. We cannot assure you
that market conditions will create fair value gains on our short-term investments or we will not incur any fair value losses on our short-term investments
in the future. If we incur such fair value losses, our results of operations, financial condition and prospects may be adversely affected.

We have limited business insurance coverage in Greater China.

Insurance companies in Greater China offer limited business insurance products and generally do not, to our knowledge, offer business liability
insurance. Business disruption insurance is available to a limited extent in Greater China, but we have determined that the risks of disruption, the cost of
such insurance, and the difficulties associated with acquiring such insurance make it impractical for us to have such insurance. We may not have
sufficient insurance coverage for business liabilities or disruptions, and may need to bear the costs and expenses associated with any such events out of
our own resources.

Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure

PRC laws and regulations restrict foreign investment in the travel agency and value-added telecommunications businesses, and substantial
uncertainties exist with respect to the application and implementation of PRC laws and regulations.

Trip.com Group Limited is a Cayman Islands incorporated company and a foreign person under PRC law. Due to foreign ownership restrictions in
the travel agency and value-added telecommunications industries, we conduct part of our business through contractual arrangements with the VIEs.
These VIEs hold the licenses and approvals that are essential for our business operations. However, as Trip.com Group is a Cayman Islands holding
company with no equity ownership in the VIEs, investors in our ADSs or the ordinary shares thus are not purchasing equity interest in the VIEs in China
but instead are purchasing equity interest in a Cayman Islands holding company. If the PRC government deems that our contractual arrangements with
the VIEs do not comply with PRC regulatory restrictions on foreign investment in the relevant industries, or if these regulations or the interpretation of
existing regulations change or are interpreted differently in the future, we could be subject to severe penalties or be forced to relinquish our interests in
those operations. We may not be able to repay the notes and other indebtedness, and our shares may decline in value or become worthless, if we are
unable to assert our contractual control rights over the assets of the VIEs, which contribute to 7% of our total assets as of December 31, 2022. Our
holding company in the Cayman Islands, the VIEs, and investors of our company face uncertainty about potential future actions by the PRC government
that could affect the enforceability of the contractual arrangements with the VIEs and, consequently, significantly affect the financial performance of the
VIEs and our company as a group.
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In the opinion of our PRC legal counsel, Commerce & Finance Law Offices, our current ownership structure, the ownership structure of our
subsidiaries and the VIE structure, and the contractual arrangements among us, our subsidiaries, the VIEs and their shareholders, as described in this
annual report, are in compliance with existing PRC laws, rules and regulations. There are, however, substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation
and application of current or future PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that PRC government authorities will not ultimately
take a view contrary to the opinion of our PRC legal counsel due to the lack of official interpretation and clear guidance.

If we and the VIEs are found to be in violation of any existing or future PRC laws or regulations, the relevant governmental authorities would
have broad discretion in dealing with such violation, including, without limitation, levying fines, confiscating our income or the income of the VIEs,
revoking our business licenses or the business licenses of the VIEs, requiring us and the VIEs to restructure our ownership structure or operations, and
requiring us or the VIEs to discontinue any portion or all of our value-added telecommunications or travel agency businesses. In particular, if the PRC
government authorities impose penalties that cause us to lose our rights to direct the activities of and receive economic benefits from the VIEs, we may
lose the ability to consolidate and reflect in our financial statements the operation results of the VIEs in accordance with the U.S. GAAP, which would
have a material adverse effect on our operations and result in the value of the securities diminishing substantially. Our shares may decline in value if we
are unable to assert our contractual control rights over the assets of the VIEs that conduct a substantial part of our operations. Our holding company in
the Cayman Islands, the VIEs and investors of our company face uncertainty about potential future actions by the PRC government that could affect the
enforceability of the contractual arrangements with the VIEs and, consequently, significantly affect the financial performance of the VIEs and our
company as a group. Any of these actions could cause significant disruption to our business operations, and may materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

According to the PRC Civil Code that came into effect on January 1, 2021 and replaced the PRC Property Rights Law effective as of October 1,
2007, the effectiveness of the pledges will be denied if the pledges are not registered. Under the equity pledge agreements between our subsidiaries and
the shareholders of the VIEs, the shareholders of the VIEs pledged their respective equity interests in these entities to our subsidiaries. The effectiveness
of the pledges upon registration will be recognized by PRC courts if disputes arise on certain pledged equity interests and that our subsidiaries’ interests
as pledgees will prevail over those of third parties. Our equity pledges have been duly registered with the relevant local branches of the SAMR.

Furthermore, although we are not aware of any actual or threatened investigation, inquiry or other action by SEC, Nasdaq, or any other regulatory
authority with respect to consolidation of the VIEs, we cannot assure you that we will not be subject to any such investigation or inquiry in the future. In
the event we are subject to any regulatory investigation or inquiry relating to the VIEs, including the consolidation of such entities into our financial
statements, or any other matters, we may need to spend significant amount of time and expenses in connection with the investigation or inquiry, our
reputation may be harmed regardless of the outcome, and the trading price of our ADS or ordinary share may materially decline or fluctuate.

If the VIEs violate our contractual arrangements with them, our business could be disrupted, our reputation may be harmed and we may have to
resort to litigation to enforce our rights, which may be time-consuming and expensive.

As the PRC government restricts foreign ownership of value-added telecommunications and travel agency businesses in China, we depend on the
VIEs, in which we have no ownership interest, to conduct part of our business activities through a series of contractual arrangements, which provide us
with a “controlling financial interest” in the VIEs as defined in FASB ASC 810 by entitling us to (i) the power to direct activities of the VIEs that most
significantly affect their economic performance, and (ii) the right to receive the economic benefits from the VIEs that could be significant to them.
Although we have been advised by our PRC legal counsel, Commerce & Finance Law Offices, that the contractual arrangements as described in this
annual report are valid, binding, and enforceable under current PRC laws, these arrangements are not as effective in providing control as direct
ownership of these businesses. For example, the VIEs could violate our contractual arrangements with them by, among other things, failing to pay us for
our consulting or other services. In any such event, we would have to rely on the PRC legal system for the enforcement of those agreements, which
could have uncertain results. Any legal proceeding could result in the disruption of our business, damage to our reputation, diversion of our resources
and incurrence of substantial costs. See “—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could
adversely affect us.”
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The principal shareholders of the VIEs have potential conflict of interest with us, which may adversely affect our business.

Some of our employees were also the principal shareholders of the VIEs as of the date of this annual report. Thus, conflict of interest between
their duties to our company and their interests in the VIEs may arise. We cannot assure you that when conflict of interest arises, these persons will act
entirely in our interests or that the conflict of interest will be resolved in our favor. In addition, these persons could violate their non-competition
obligations under service contracts with us or their legal duties by diverting business opportunities from us to others, resulting in our loss of corporate
opportunities. In any such event, we would have to rely on the PRC legal system for the enforcement of these agreements, which could have uncertain
results. Any legal proceeding could result in the disruption of our business, diversion of our resources and incurrence of substantial costs. See “—Risks
Relating to Doing Business in China— Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system could adversely affect us.”

Our business may be significantly affected by the PRC Foreign Investment Law.

The PRC Foreign Investment Law was approved by the PRC National People’s Congress on March 15, 2019 and came into effect on January 1,
2020. The PRC Foreign Investment Law has repealed the PRC Wholly Foreign-owned Enterprise Law, the PRC Sino-foreign Equity Joint Venture Law,
and the PRC Sino-foreign Cooperative Joint Venture Law. Therefore, establishment and operation of companies in China, including FIEs, will generally
follow the PRC Company Law unless specifically provided for in the new PRC Foreign Investment Law, in which case the provisions of the new PRC
Foreign Investment Law will prevail. In December 2019, the Implementing Regulation of the Foreign Investment Law was promulgated by the State
Council and came into effect on January 1, 2020.

The PRC Foreign Investment Law does not touch upon the relevant concepts and regulatory regimes that were historically suggested for the
regulation of VIE structures, and thus this regulatory topic remains unclear thereunder. Therefore, substantial uncertainties with respect to its
implementation and interpretation exist, and it is also possible that the VIE entities will be deemed as FIEs and be subject to restrictions in the future.
Such restrictions may cause interruptions to our operations and may incur additional compliance cost, which may in turn materially and adversely affect
our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our contractual arrangements with the VIEs may result in adverse tax consequences to us.

As a result of our corporate structure and the contractual arrangements between us and the VIEs, we are effectively subject to the 6% PRC value-
added tax, or VAT, on both revenues generated by the VIEs’ operations in China and revenues derived from our contractual arrangements with the VIEs.
We might be subject to adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax authorities were to determine that the contracts between us and the VIEs were not made
on an arm’s length basis and therefore constitute favorable transfer pricing arrangements. If this occurs, the PRC tax authorities could request that the
VIEs adjust their taxable income upward for PRC tax purposes. Such an adjustment could adversely affect us by increasing the VIEs’ tax expenses
without reducing our tax expenses, which could subject the VIEs to late payment fees and other penalties for underpayment of taxes, and/or result in the
loss of the tax benefits available to our subsidiaries in China. The EIT Law requires every enterprise in China to submit its annual enterprise income tax
return together with a report on transactions with its affiliates to the relevant tax authorities. The tax authorities may impose reasonable adjustments on
taxation if they have identified any related party transactions that are inconsistent with arm’s length principles. As a result, our contractual arrangements
with the VIEs may result in adverse tax consequences to us.
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Our PRC subsidiaries are subject to restrictions on paying dividends or making other payments to us while the VIEs can only make payments to us
in accordance with the contractual arrangements, which may restrict our ability to satisfy our liquidity requirements.

We are a holding company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. We rely on dividends from our PRC subsidiaries and service fees paid to us by the
VIEs. Under the PRC laws and regulations, our PRC subsidiaries cannot distribute any dividends until any losses from prior fiscal years have been
offset. Also, our PRC subsidiaries cannot distribute their statutory reserve, which refers to the statutory reserve funds that PRC entities are required to
set aside in accordance with PRC laws and regulations from their respective after-tax profit each year, if any, until such statutory reserve funds reach
50% of the registered capital of the respective PRC subsidiaries, as cash dividends. Meanwhile, the VIEs can only make payments to us in accordance
with the contractual arrangements that we entered into with them. Moreover, as our PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs may incur debt on their own behalf,
some of the instruments governing the debt may also restrict their ability to pay dividends or make other payments to us, which may in turn restrict our
ability to satisfy our liquidity requirements. If, in the future, the accumulated earnings of the VIEs exceed the service fees paid to our PRC subsidiaries
(or if the current and contemplated fee structure between the intercompany entities is determined to be non-substantive and disallowed by the PRC tax
authorities), the VIEs could make a non-deductible transfer to our PRC subsidiaries for the amounts of the stranded cash in the VIEs. This would result
in such transfer being non-deductible expenses for the VIEs but still taxable income for the PRC subsidiaries. Such a transfer and the related tax burdens
would reduce our after-tax income to approximately 50.6% of the pre-tax income. Our management believes that there is only a remote possibility that
this scenario would happen.

Pursuant to the EIT Law, its implementing rules and a circular of Taxation on Several Preferential Policies on Enterprise Income Tax issued by the
MOF, and PRC State Taxation Administration, or the STA, in February 2008, the dividends declared out of the profits earned after January 1, 2008 by an
FIE to its immediate offshore holding company are subject to a 10% withholding tax unless such offshore holding company’s jurisdiction of
incorporation has a tax treaty with China that provides for a different withholding arrangement, and certain supplementary requirements and procedures
stipulated by STA for such tax treaty are met and observed. Some of our PRC subsidiaries are considered FIEs that are directly or indirectly held by our
subsidiaries in Hong Kong. According to the currently effective tax treaty between mainland China and Hong Kong, dividends payable by an FIE in
China to a company in Hong Kong that directly holds at least 25% of the equity interests in the FIE will be subject to a withholding tax of 5%.

Under the Notice of the State Taxation Administration on Issues regarding the Implementation of the Dividend Provision in Tax Treaties
promulgated in February 2009, the taxpayer needs to satisfy certain conditions to enjoy the benefits under a tax treaty. These conditions include, but are
not limited to: (i) the taxpayer must be the beneficial owner of the relevant dividends, and (ii) the corporate shareholder to receive dividends from the
PRC subsidiaries must have met the direct ownership thresholds during the 12 consecutive months preceding the receipt of the dividends. Further, the
STA promulgated the Announcement of the Certain Issues with Respect to the “Beneficial Owner” in Tax Treaties in February 2018, which sets forth
certain detailed factors in determining “beneficial owner” status, and specifically, if an applicant’s business activities do not constitute substantive
business activities, the applicant will not qualify as a “beneficial owner.”

Entitlement to a lower tax rate on dividends according to tax treaties or arrangements between the PRC central government and governments of
other countries or regions is further subject to the Administrative Measures for Non-Resident Taxpayers to Enjoy Treatments under Tax Treaties
promulgated by the STA on October 14, 2019 and came into effect on January 1, 2020, which provides that non-resident enterprises are not required to
obtain pre-approval from the relevant tax authority in order to enjoy the reduced withholding tax. Instead, non-resident enterprises and their withholding
agents may, by self-assessment and on confirmation that the prescribed criteria to enjoy the tax treaty benefits are met, directly apply the reduced
withholding tax rate, collect and retain relevant materials for reference in accordance with these treaties, and accept supervision and management from
the tax authorities afterwards. As a result, we cannot assure you that we will be entitled to any preferential withholding tax rate under tax treaties for
dividends received from our PRC subsidiaries.

49



If we are classified as a PRC resident enterprise for PRC enterprise income tax purposes, such classification could result in unfavorable tax
consequences to us and our non-PRC shareholders and ADS holders.

Under the EIT Law and its implementation rules, an enterprise established outside of China with its “de facto management body” within China is
considered a PRC resident enterprise and will be subject to enterprise income tax at the rate of 25% on its worldwide income. The “de facto
management body” is defined as the organizational body that effectively exercises overall management and control over production and business
operations, personnel, finance and accounting, and properties of the enterprise. It remains unclear how the PRC tax authorities will interpret such a
broad definition. If the PRC tax authorities determine that we should be classified as a PRC resident enterprise for PRC tax purposes, our global income
will be subject to income tax at a uniform rate of 25%, which may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Notwithstanding the foregoing provision, the EIT Law also provides that, if a PRC resident enterprise directly invests in another PRC resident
enterprise, the dividends received by the investing PRC resident enterprise from the invested PRC resident enterprise are exempted from income tax,
subject to certain conditions. However, it remains unclear how the PRC tax authorities will interpret the PRC tax resident treatment of an offshore
company with indirect ownership interests in PRC resident enterprises through intermediary holding companies.

Moreover, under the EIT Law and its implementation rules, foreign shareholders and ADS holders that are non-PRC resident enterprises may be
subject to a 10% withholding tax upon dividends payable by an entity that is considered as a PRC resident enterprise and gains realized on the sale or
other disposition of ADSs or our ordinary shares, if such income is considered as income derived from within China. Any such tax would reduce the
returns on your investment in our ordinary shares or ADSs. Furthermore, if we are deemed as a PRC resident enterprise, dividends paid to foreign ADS
holders or shareholders that are non-PRC individuals may be subject to a 20% withholding tax, and gain realized on the sale or disposition of ADSs or
ordinary shares of such foreign ADS holders or shareholders may be subject to 20% withholding tax, if such income is considered as derived from
within China.

Any PRC tax liability may be reduced by an applicable tax treaty, but it is unclear whether non-PRC holders of our ordinary shares or ADSs
would be able to obtain the benefits of any tax treaties between their country of tax residence and China in the event that we are treated as a PRC
resident enterprise. Any such tax would reduce the returns on your investment in our ordinary shares or ADSs.

If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership in the VIEs, such ownership transfer requires approval from or filings with PRC governmental
authorities and subject to taxation, which may result in substantial costs to us.

Pursuant to the relevant contractual arrangements, the primary beneficiaries of the VIEs have their respective exclusive rights to purchase all or
any part of the equity interests in the applicable VIEs from the respective shareholders of these VIEs for a price that is the higher of (i) the amount of
capital contribution to such VIEs, or the consideration paid in exchange for the equity interests in such VIEs, or (ii) another minimum price as permitted
by the then applicable PRC laws. Such equity transfers may be subject to approvals from, or filings with, relevant PRC authorities. In addition, the
relevant equity transfer prices may be subject to review and adjustment for tax determination by the relevant tax authorities. Moreover, the shareholders
of the VIEs, under the circumstances of such equity transfers, will be subject to PRC individual income tax on the difference between the equity transfer
prices and the then current registered capital of the relevant VIEs. The shareholders of such VIEs will pay, after deducting such taxes, the remaining
amount to the primary beneficiaries of the VIEs, as appropriate, under the applicable contractual arrangements. The amount to be received by the
primary beneficiaries of the VIEs may also be subject to enterprise income tax.

We face uncertainty with respect to indirect transfer of equity interests in PRC resident enterprises by their non-PRC holding companies.

We face uncertainties regarding the reporting on and consequences of previous private equity financing transactions involving the transfer and
exchange of shares in our company by non-PRC resident investors. According to the Notice on Strengthening Administration of Enterprise Income Tax
for Share Transfers by Non-PRC Resident Enterprises issued by STA on December 10, 2009, or STA Circular 698, where a non-PRC resident enterprise
transfers the equity interests in a PRC resident enterprise indirectly through a disposition of equity interests in an offshore holding company (other than
a purchase and sale of shares issued by a PRC resident enterprise in public securities market), or an Indirect Transfer, the non-PRC resident enterprise,
as the seller, may be subject to PRC enterprise income tax of up to 10% of the gains derived from the Indirect Transfer in certain circumstances.
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On February 3, 2015, STA issued Announcement on Several Issues Concerning the Enterprise Income Tax on Indirect Property Transfers by
Non-RPC Resident Enterprises, or STA Notice No. 7, to supersede the tax rules in relation to the tax treatment of the Indirect Transfer, while the other
provisions of STA Circular 698 irrelevant to the Indirect Transfer remain in force. STA Notice No. 7 introduces a new tax regime that is significantly
different from that under a notice issued by STA Circular 698. It extends STA’s tax jurisdiction to capture not only the Indirect Transfer as set forth
under STA Circular 698 but also transactions involving indirect transfer of (i) real properties in China and (ii) assets of an “establishment or place”
situated in China, by a non-PRC resident enterprise through a disposition of equity interests in an offshore company. STA Notice No. 7 also extends the
interpretation with respect to the disposition of equity interests in an offshore company broadly. In addition, STA Notice No. 7 further clarifies how to
assess reasonable commercial purposes and introduces safe harbors applicable to internal group restructurings. However, it also brings challenges to
both offshore transferor and transferee as they are required to make self-assessment on whether an Indirect Transfer or similar transaction should be
subject to PRC tax and whether they should file or withhold any tax payment accordingly. On October 17, 2017, the STA issued a Notice Concerning
Withholding Income Tax of Non-Resident Enterprise, or STA Notice No. 37, which abolishes STA Circular 698 and certain provision of STA Notice 7.
STA Notice No. 37 further reduces the burden of withholding obligator, such as revocation of contract filing requirements and tax liquidation
procedures, strengthens the cooperation of tax authorities in different places, and clarifies the calculation of tax payable and mechanism of foreign
exchange.

There is uncertainty as to the application of STA Notice No. 7 and STA Notice No. 37. In the event that non-PRC resident investors were involved
in our private equity financing transactions and such transactions were determined by the competent tax authorities as lack of reasonable commercial
purposes, we and our non-PRC resident investors may become at risk of being taxed under and STA Notice No. 7 and STA Notice No. 37 and may be
required to expend costly resources to comply with and STA Notice No. 7 and STA Notice No. 37, or to establish a case to be tax exempt under STA
Notice No. 7 and STA Notice No. 37, which may cause us to incur additional costs and may have a negative impact on the value of your investment in
us.

The PRC tax authorities have discretion under STA Notice No. 7 and STA Notice No. 37 to adjust the taxable capital gains based on the difference
between the fair value of the transferred equity interests and the investment cost. We may pursue acquisitions in the future that may involve complex
corporate structures. If we are deemed as a non-PRC resident enterprise under the EIT Law and if the PRC tax authorities adjust the taxable income of
the transactions under STA Notice No. 7 and STA Notice No. 37, our income tax expenses associated with such potential acquisitions will increase,
which may have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Relating to Doing Business in China

Adverse changes in economic and political policies of the PRC government could have a material adverse effect on the overall economic growth of
China, which could adversely affect our business.

Substantially all of our operations are located in China. Accordingly, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations may be
influenced to a significant degree by political, economic and social conditions in China generally and by continued economic growth in China as a
whole.

The Chinese economy differs from the economies of most developed countries in many respects, including the amount of government
involvement, level of development, growth rate, control of foreign exchange and allocation of resources. Although the Chinese government has
implemented measures emphasizing the utilization of market forces for economic reform, the reduction of state ownership of productive assets and the
establishment of improved corporate governance in business enterprises, a substantial portion of productive assets in China are still owned by the
government. In addition, the Chinese government continues to play a significant role in regulating industry development by imposing industrial policies.
The Chinese government also exercises significant control over China’s economic growth through allocating resources, controlling payment of foreign
currency-denominated obligations, setting monetary policy and providing preferential treatment to particular industries or companies.
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While the Chinese economy has experienced significant growth over the past decades, growth has been uneven, both geographically and among
various sectors of the economy. The Chinese government has implemented various measures to encourage economic growth and guide the allocation of
resources. Some of these measures may benefit the overall Chinese economy, but may have a negative effect on us. For example, our financial condition
and results of operations may be adversely affected by government control over capital investments or changes in tax regulations. In addition, in the past
the Chinese government has implemented certain measures, including interest rate increases, to control the pace of economic growth. These measures
may cause decreased economic activity in China. The growth rate of the Chinese economy has gradually slowed since 2010, and the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the Chinese economy since 2020 has been severe. Any prolonged slowdown in the Chinese economy may reduce the demand
for our products and services and materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

The PRC government’s significant oversight and discretion over our business operation could result in a material adverse change in our operations
and the value of our ADSs and ordinary shares.

We conduct our business primarily in China. Our operations in China are governed by PRC laws and regulations. PRC government has significant
oversight and discretion over the conduct of our business, and may intervene or influence our operations as the government deems appropriate to
advance regulatory and societal goals and policy positions. The PRC government has recently published new policies that significantly affected certain
industries and we cannot rule out the possibility that it will in the future release regulations or policies that directly or indirectly affect our industry or
require us to seek additional permission to continue our operations, which could result in a material adverse change in our operation and/or the value of
our ADSs and ordinary shares. Also, the PRC government has recently rolled out a new filing-based regime to regulate overseas offerings and listings by
PRC domestic companies. For further details, see “—Risks Relating to Doing Business in China—The approval of and the filing with the CSRC or
other PRC government authorities may be required in connection with our offshore offerings in the future under PRC law, and, if required, we cannot
predict whether or for how long we will be able to obtain such approval or complete such filing” and “Item 4. Information of the Company—B.
Business Overview—PRC Government Regulations—Regulations Related to M&A and Overseas Listings.” Any such action could significantly limit or
completely hinder our ability to offer or continue to offer securities to investors and cause the value of our shares and the ADSs to significantly decline
or become worthless. Therefore, investors of our company face potential uncertainty from actions taken by the PRC government affecting our business.

The PCAOB had historically been unable to inspect our auditor in relation to their audit work performed for our financial statements and the
inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections of our auditor in the past has deprived our investors with the benefits of such inspections.

Our auditor, the independent registered public accounting firm that issues the audit report included elsewhere in this annual report, as an auditor of
companies that are traded publicly in the United States and a firm registered with the PCAOB, is subject to laws in the United States pursuant to which
the PCAOB conducts regular inspections to assess its compliance with the applicable professional standards. The auditor is located in mainland China, a
jurisdiction where the PCAOB was historically unable to conduct inspections and investigations completely before 2022. As a result, we and investors in
the ADSs were deprived of the benefits of such PCAOB inspections. The inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections of auditors in China in the past
has made it more difficult to evaluate the effectiveness of our independent registered public accounting firm’s audit procedures or quality control
procedures as compared to auditors outside of China that are subject to the PCAOB inspections. On December 15, 2022, the PCAOB issued a report that
vacated its December 16, 2021 determination and removed mainland China and Hong Kong from the list of jurisdictions where it is unable to inspect or
investigate completely registered public accounting firms. However, if the PCAOB determines in the future that it no longer has full access to inspect
and investigate completely accounting firms in mainland China and Hong Kong, and we use an accounting firm headquartered in one of these
jurisdictions to issue an audit report on our financial statements filed with the SEC, we and investors in our ADSs would be deprived of the benefits of
such PCAOB inspections again, which could cause investors and potential investors in the ADSs to lose confidence in our audit procedures and reported
financial information and the quality of our financial statements.
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Our ADSs may be prohibited from trading in the United States under the HFCAA in the future if the PCAOB is unable to inspect or investigate
completely auditors located in China. The delisting of the ADSs, or the threat of their being delisted, may materially and adversely affect the value of
your investment.

Pursuant to the HFCAA, if the SEC determines that we have filed audit reports issued by a registered public accounting firm that has not been
subject to inspections by the PCAOB for two consecutive years, the SEC will prohibit our shares or ADSs from being traded on a national securities
exchange or in the over-the-counter trading market in the United States.

On December 16, 2021, the PCAOB issued a report to notify the SEC of its determination that the PCAOB was unable to inspect or investigate
completely registered public accounting firms headquartered in mainland China and Hong Kong and our auditor was subject to that determination. In
May 2022, the SEC conclusively listed Trip.com Group Limited as a Commission-Identified Issuer under the HFCAA following the filing of our annual
report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. On December 15, 2022, the PCAOB removed mainland China and Hong Kong from
the list of jurisdictions where it is unable to inspect or investigate completely registered public accounting firms. For this reason, we do not expect to be
identified as a Commission-Identified Issuer under the HFCAA after we file this annual report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2022.

Each year, the PCAOB will determine whether it can inspect and investigate completely audit firms in mainland China and Hong Kong, among
other jurisdictions. If the PCAOB determines in the future that it no longer has full access to inspect and investigate completely accounting firms in
mainland China and Hong Kong and we use an accounting firm headquartered in one of these jurisdictions to issue an audit report on our financial
statements filed with the SEC, we would be identified as a Commission-Identified Issue